



Swansea University E-Theses

Glauber and Kawasaki dynamics for permanental point process.

Li, Guanhua

How to cite:

Li, Guanhua (2011) *Glauber and Kawasaki dynamics for permanental point process.*. thesis, Swansea University. http://cronfa.swan.ac.uk/Record/cronfa42886

Use policy:

This item is brought to you by Swansea University. Any person downloading material is agreeing to abide by the terms of the repository licence: copies of full text items may be used or reproduced in any format or medium, without prior permission for personal research or study, educational or non-commercial purposes only. The copyright for any work remains with the original author unless otherwise specified. The full-text must not be sold in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holder. Permission for multiple reproductions should be obtained from the original author.

Authors are personally responsible for adhering to copyright and publisher restrictions when uploading content to the repository.

Please link to the metadata record in the Swansea University repository, Cronfa (link given in the citation reference above.)

http://www.swansea.ac.uk/library/researchsupport/ris-support/

Glauber and Kawasaki dynamics for permanental point process

Guanhua Li 206674

Submitted to Swansea University in fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philsophy

Swansea University

2011



ProQuest Number: 10821276

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 10821276

Published by ProQuest LLC (2018). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 – 1346

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere appreciation and grateful thanks to:

My dissertation supervisor, Prof. E. Lytvynov, for his patient guidance and plenty of important suggestions throughout the course of this project.

My parents for their endless support, encouragement and love in my life

Finally, many thanks to my wife Lin. The encouragement from her is really important.

Abstract

A configuration space over a locally compact Polish space is the set of all locally finite subsets (configurations) in this Polish space. (In most applications, it is sufficient to think of a Polish as a Euclidean space.) A configuration describes positions of indistinguishable particles in an (infinite) system of particles. A probability measure on the configuration space is usually called a point process. This dissertation deals with the so-called Glauber and Kawasaki dynamics on the configuration space. A Glauber dynamics is a stochastic dynamics of an infinite particle system in which particles randomly appear (are born) and disappear (die). A Kawasaki dynamics is a Markov process on the configuration space in which particles randomly hop over the underlying space Polish space. Equilibrium Glauber and Kawasaki dynamics which have a standard Gibbs measure as symmetrizing (and hence invariant) measure have been constructed and actively studied in recent years. Lytvynov and Ohlerich extended this construction to the case of an equilibrium dynamics which has a determinantal (fermion) point process as invariant measure. In 1975 Macchi introduced boson point processes. These point processes are characterized by their correlation functions which have the form of the permanent of a certain matrix constructed through a given correlation kernel. This is why boson point processes are also called permanental point processes. Shirai and Takahashi significantly extended the class of permanental point processes, by including in it the so-called alpha-permanental point processes whose correlation functions have a representation through alpha-permanents introduced by Vere-Jones. All these processes belong to the class of Cox point processes, i.e., Poisson point processes with random intensity. The aim of the dissertation is to show that general criteria of existence of Glauber and Kawasaki dynamics are applicable to a wide class of alpha-permanental point processes. We also consider a diffusion approximation for the Kawasaki dynamics at the level of Dirichlet forms. This leads us to an equilibrium dynamics of interacting Brownian particles for which an alpha-permanental point process is a symmetrizing measure. As a byproduct of our considerations, we extend the result of Shirai and Takahashi on the existence of alpha-permanental point process.

DECLARATION

This work has not previously been accepted in substance for any degree and is not concurrently submitted in candidature for any degree.

Signed...... Date.....

STATEMENT 1

This dissertation is the result of my own independent work/investigation, except where otherwise stated. Other sources are acknowledged by footnotes giving explicit references. A bibliography is appended.

Signed..... Date.....

STATEMENT 2

I hereby give my consent for my dissertation, if accepted, to be available for photocopying and for inter-library loan, and for the title and summary to be made available to outside organizations.

Signed..... Date.....

Contents

.

1	Intr	oduction	8
2	Cor	figuration space and Cox point processes	11
	2.1	Spaces of finite and infinite configurations	11
	2.2	Poisson and Lebesgue–Poisson measures in finite volume	15
	2.3	Poisson measure in infinite volume	18
	2.4	Correlation measure and correlation functions	22
	2.5	Cox point processes	25
3	Per	nanental point processes	32
	3.1	Preliminaries	32
		3.1.1 Some classes of linear operators	32
		3.1.2 Functional calculus of a self-adjoint operator	34
		3.1.3 Integral kernel of a locally trace-class operator	36
		3.1.4 Gaussian random fields	38
		3.1.5 Moments of Gaussian white noise measure	45
	3.2	Permanental point processes	48
4	Ma	kov process and Dirichlet forms	57
	4.1	Unbounded linear operators and quadratic forms	57
	4.2	Markov processes	61

	4.3	Generator of a Markov process	64
	4.4	Conservative Hunt processes	66
5	Glauber and Kawasaki dynamics for permanental point pro-		
	cess	es	69
	5.1	Equilibrium Glauber and Kawasaki dynamics — general results	69
	5.2	Equilibrium Glauber and Kawasaki dynamics for permanental	
		point processes	75
	5.3	Diffusion approximation	85

Chapter 1

Introduction

Let X be a locally compact Polish space. Let σ be a non-atomic Radon measure on X. In most applications it suffices to think of X as Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^d and $\sigma(dx) = dx$. Let Γ_X denote the space of all locally finite subsets (configurations) in X. A probability measure on Γ_X is usually called a point process.

Starting essentially with papers [1, 2] there have been a lot of activities related to equilibrium and non-equilibrium stochastic dynamics (Markov processes) on Γ_X .

This dissertation deals with the so-called Glauber and Kawasaki dynamics on the configuration space.

A Glauber dynamics (a birth-and-death process of an infinite system of particles in X) is a Markov process on Γ whose formal (pre-)generator has the form

$$(L_{G}F)(\gamma) = \sum_{x \in \gamma} d(x, \gamma \setminus x) (F(\gamma \setminus x) - F(\gamma)) + \int_{X} \sigma(dx) b(x, \gamma) (F(\gamma \cup x) - F(\gamma)), \quad \gamma \in \Gamma_{X}.$$
(1.1)

Here and below, for simplicity of notation we write x instead of $\{x\}$. The

coefficient $d(x, \gamma \setminus x)$ describes the rate at which particle x of configuration γ dies, while $b(x, \gamma)$ describes the rate at which, given configuration γ , a new particle is born at x.

A Kawasaki dynamics (a dynamics of hopping particles) is a Markov process on Γ whose formal (pre-)generator is

$$(L_{\mathbf{K}}F)(\gamma) = \sum_{x \in \gamma} c(x, y, \gamma \setminus x) \int_{X} \sigma(dx) (F(\gamma \setminus x \cup y) - F(\gamma)), \quad \gamma \in \Gamma_{X}.$$
(1.2)

The coefficient $c(x, y, \gamma \setminus x)$ describes the rate at which particle x of configuration γ hops to y, taking the rest of the configuration, $\gamma \setminus x$, into account.

Equilibrium Glauber and Kawasaki dynamics which have a standard Gibbs measure as symmetrizing (and hence invariant) measure were constructed in [27, 28]. In [31], this construction was extended to the case of an equilibrium dynamics which has a determinantal (fermion) point process as invariant measure, For further studies of equilibrium and non-equilibrium Glauber and Kawasaki dynamics, we refer to [8, 12, 13, 14, 15, 18, 20, 21, 23, 24, 25, 26, 29, 40] and the references therein.

In [37] (see also [36]) Macchi introduced boson point processes. These point processes are characterized by their correlation functions which have the form of the permanent of a certain matrix constructed through some given correlation kernel. This is why boson point processes were also called permanental point processes. Shirai and Takahashi [44] significantly extended the class of permanental point processes, by including the so-called α -permanental point processes whose correlation functions have a representation through α -permanents introduced by Vere-Jones in [45] (Shirai and Takahashi call them α -determinants). Such point processes are known to exist for a wide range of correlation kernels if $\alpha^{-1} \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{N}$, i.e., $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}l$ with $l \in \mathbb{N}$. All these processes belong to the class of Cox point processes (see e.g. [10, 17]), i.e., Poisson point processes with random intensity. In case of permanental point processes, this random intensity is described in terms of a Gaussian random field.

The aim of the dissertation is to show that general criteria of existence of Glauber and Kawasaki dynamics which were developed in [31] are applicable to a wide class of α -permanental point processes. We will also consider a diffusion approximation for the Kawasaki dynamics at the level of Dirichlet forms (compare with [23]). This will lead us to an equilibrium dynamics of interacting Brownian particles for which an α -permanental point process is a symmetrizing measure. As a by-product of our considerations, we will also extend the result of [44] on the existence of α -permanental point process.

The dissertation is organized as follows. In Chapter 2, we will discuss configuration spaces and general Cox point processes. In Chapter 3, we will construct α -permanental point processes. To this end, we will construct a random field which is Gaussian almost surely. In Chapter 4, we will briefly recall some facts related to the general theory of Markov processes and Dirichlet forms. Finally, the main results of the dissertation are in Chapter 5. There we will construct equilibrium Glauber and Kawasaki dynamics for which an α -permanental point process is a symmetrizing (and hence invariant) measure. We will also discuss a diffusion approximation for the corresponding Kawasaki dynamics.

Chapter 2

Configuration space and Cox point processes

In this chapter, we will present an overview of some basic definitions and facts related to configuration spaces and point processes, in particular, Cox point processes.

The standard references for sections 2.1–2.4 below are [10, 22, 35], the references for Cox point processes (section 2.5) include [10, 17, 35, 39].

2.1 Spaces of finite and infinite configurations

Let X be a locally compact Polish space. Recall that a Polish space is a metric space which is complete and separable. That is, there exists a metric ρ on X, generating the topology, such that:

a) every Cauchy sequence $\{x_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ in X converges in X (completeness);

b) there exists a countable subset Y of X whose closure \overline{Y} is X (separability).

A set $B \subset X$ is said to be topologically bounded if its closure \overline{B} is compact. Recall that a subset C of X is called compact if from any covering $\{B_i; i \in I\}$ by open balls one can extract a finite subset $\{B_{i_1}, \ldots, B_{i_n}\}$ which is again a covering of C.

Note that an open ball B(x,r) with centre at $x \in X$ and radius r > 0need not be bounded in such a space. However, the condition that X be locally compact means that one can always find $\varepsilon > 0$, small enough, such that the open ball $B(x,\varepsilon)$ is bounded, i.e., the closed ball $\overline{B}(x,\varepsilon)$ is compact.

We denote by $\mathcal{B}(X)$ the Borel σ -algebra in X, and by $\mathcal{B}_0(X)$ the collection of all bounded sets from $\mathcal{B}(X)$.

A configuration space over X, denoted by Γ_X , is defined as the set of all locally finite subsets (configurations) in X:

$$\Gamma_X := \{ \gamma \subset X : |\gamma \cap \Delta| < \infty \text{ for each } \Delta \in \mathcal{B}_0(X) \}.$$

Here |A| denotes the cardinality of set A. We will often identify each $\gamma \in \Gamma_X$ with the Radon measure

$$\gamma = \sum_{x \in \gamma} \delta_x.$$

Here δ_x denotes the Dirac measure at x. Thus, Γ_X becomes a subset of the set $\mathcal{M}_0(X)$ of all Randon measures on X, i.e., all measures m on $(X, \mathcal{B}(X))$ such that $m(A) < \infty$ for all $A \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$. Recall that $\mathcal{M}_0(X)$ has a standard topology, called the vague topology. This is the minimal topology with respect to which each mapping of the form

$$\mathcal{M}_0(X) \ni m \mapsto \langle f, m \rangle \in \mathbb{R}, \quad f \in C_0(X),$$

is continuous. Here $\langle f, m \rangle := \int_X f(x) m(dx)$ and $C_0(X)$ denotes the set of all continuous functions on X with compact support. We can now define the vague topology on Γ_X as the relative topology of the vague topology on $\mathcal{M}_0(X)$. Thus, the vague topology on Γ_X is the minimal topology with respect to which each mapping of the form

$$\Gamma_X \ni \gamma \mapsto \langle f, \gamma \rangle = \sum_{x \in \gamma} f(x) \in \mathbb{R}, \quad f \in C_0(X),$$

is continuous.

In the vague topology, Γ_X becomes itself a Polish space (i.e., one can introduce a metric on Γ_X which generates the vague topology and with respect to which Γ_X is complete and separable.)

In fact, one can explicitly describe convergence in the vague topology in Γ_X . So, a sequence $\{\gamma^{(n)}\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ converges to a $\gamma \in \Gamma_X$ in the vague topology if and only if, for any open, bounded set $O \subset X$ such that $(\overline{O} \setminus O) \cap \gamma = \emptyset$ (here \overline{O} denotes the closure of O), there exist $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}_0 := \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ such that

$$|\gamma^{(n)} \cap O| = |\gamma \cap O| = k$$

for all $n \geq N$, and one can introduce a numeration of points of $\gamma^{(n)} \cap O = \{x_1^{(n)}, \ldots, x_k^{(n)}\}, n \geq N$, and that of $\gamma \cap O = \{x_1, \ldots, x_k\}$ such that $x_i^{(n)} \to x_i$ in X as $n \to \infty$, for $i = 1, \ldots, k$.

We denote by $\mathcal{B}(\Gamma_X)$ the Borel σ -algebra on Γ_X . In fact, $\mathcal{B}(\Gamma_X)$ is the minimal σ -algebra on Γ_X with respect to which each mapping of the form

$$\Gamma_X \ni \gamma \mapsto |\gamma \cap \Lambda|, \quad \Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$$

is measurable. A probability measure on $(\Gamma_X, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_X))$ is called a point process in X.

We will also need the space of multiple configurations $\ddot{\Gamma}_X$. This space is defined as the set of all $\mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{+\infty\}$ -valued Radon measures. Thus, any element $\ddot{\gamma} \in \ddot{\Gamma}_X$ has a representation

$$\ddot{\gamma} = \sum_{x \in \gamma} n(x) \delta_x, \qquad (2.1)$$

where $\gamma \in \Gamma_X$ and for each $x \in \gamma$, $n(x) \in \mathbb{N}$. We will also endow $\ddot{\Gamma}_X$ with the vague topology. (Note that, informally, we may treat $\ddot{\Gamma}_X$ as the configuration space in which different particles may occupy the same position, n(x) in (2.1) being the number of particles at point x.)

Let $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}(X)$. We denote by $\Gamma_{\Lambda,0}$ the space of all finite configurations in Λ :

$$\Gamma_{\Lambda,0} = \{ \gamma \subset \Lambda \mid |\gamma| < \infty \}.$$

(Note that if Λ is bounded, i.e., $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$, then $\Gamma_{\Lambda,0} = \Gamma_{\Lambda}$.) Thus,

$$\Gamma_{\Lambda,0} = \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} \Gamma_{\Lambda}^{(n)},$$

where $\Gamma_{\Lambda}^{(n)}$ is the space of all *n*-point subsets of Λ (for n = 0, $\Gamma_{\Lambda}^{(0)} = \{\emptyset\}$).

We can, of course, endow $\Gamma_{\Lambda,0}$ with the vague topology, and define $\mathcal{B}(\Gamma_{\Lambda,0})$ as the Borel σ -algebra on $\Gamma_{\Lambda,0}$. There is, however, another equivalent description of this σ -algebra.

For each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, define

$$D_n := \{ (x_1, \dots, x_n) \in X^n \mid x_i = x_j \text{ for some } i, j \in \{1, \dots, n\}, i \neq j \}$$

(i.e., D_n is the collection of all 'diagonals' in X^n). Set

$$\tilde{\Lambda}^n := \Lambda^n \backslash D_n. \tag{2.2}$$

Define $\mathcal{B}(\tilde{\Lambda}^n)$ as the trace σ -algebra of $\mathcal{B}(\Lambda^n)$ on $\tilde{\Lambda}^n$. Define

$$I_n: \tilde{\Lambda}^n \to \Gamma^{(n)}_{\Lambda}$$

by

$$I_n(x_1, \dots, x_n) = \{x_1, \dots, x_n\}.$$
 (2.3)

Denote by $\mathcal{B}(\Gamma_{\Lambda}^{(n)})$ the image of the σ -algebra $\mathcal{B}(\tilde{\Lambda}^n)$ under I_n . Now, we have that $\mathcal{B}(\Gamma_{\Lambda,0})$ is the minimal σ -algebra on $\Gamma_{\Lambda,0}$ which contains all $\mathcal{B}(\Gamma_{\Lambda}^{(n)})$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$ (note that this implies that $\{\varnothing\} \in \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_{\Lambda,0})$). Let $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$. We call a set $A \subset \Gamma_X$ local with respect to Λ if there exits a set $\tilde{A} \subset \Gamma_{\Lambda}(=\Gamma_{\Lambda,0})$ such that

$$A = \{ \gamma \in \Gamma_X \mid \gamma \cap \Lambda \in \tilde{A} \}.$$
(2.4)

We denote by $\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma_X)$ the σ -algebra of all sets from $\mathcal{B}(\Gamma_X)$ which are local with respect to Λ . By identifying a local set A as in (2.4) with the set \tilde{A} we may identify the σ -algebra $\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma_X)$ with a σ -algebra on Γ_{Λ} . In fact, this σ -algebra coincides with $\mathcal{B}(\Gamma_{\Lambda})$. Thus, we have identified the σ -algebras $\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma_X)$ and $\mathcal{B}(\Gamma_{\Lambda})$.

2.2 Poisson and Lebesgue–Poisson measures in finite volume

Let X be as in Section 2.1. Let σ be a Radon, non-atomic measure on $(X, \mathcal{B}(X))$ (recall that non-atomic means that $\sigma(\{x\}) = 0$ for each $x \in X$). Using the notations of section 2.1, we see that the set $D_n \subset X^n$ is of zero $\sigma^{\otimes n}$ measure. Let $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$, so that, in particular, $\sigma(\Lambda) < \infty$. Let σ_{Λ} denote the restriction of the measure σ to $(\Lambda, \mathcal{B}(\Lambda))$. Then the set $\tilde{\Lambda}^n$ is of full measure $\sigma_{\Lambda}^{\otimes n}$. Therefore, we can consider $\sigma_{\Lambda}^{\otimes n}$ as a measure on $(\tilde{\Lambda}^n, \mathcal{B}(\tilde{\Lambda}^n))$. We will preserve the notation $\sigma_{\Lambda}^{\otimes n}$ for the image of the measure $\sigma_{\Lambda}^{\otimes n}$ under the measurable mapping $I_n : \tilde{\Lambda}^n \to \Gamma_{\Lambda}^{(n)}$ given through (2.3). Then

$$\sigma_{\Lambda}^{\otimes n}(\Gamma_{\Lambda}^{(n)}) = \sigma(\Lambda)^{n}.$$
(2.5)

We will now define the measure $\Pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}$ on $(\Gamma_{\Lambda}, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_{\Lambda}))$ as follows:

$$\Pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}|\Gamma_{\Lambda}^{(n)} := \frac{1}{n!}\sigma_{\Lambda}^{\otimes n}, \quad n \in \mathbb{N},$$
$$\Pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}(\{\varnothing\}) := 1.$$

The measure $\Pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}$ is called the Lebesgue–Poisson measure on Γ_{Λ} with intensity σ . Quite often, one informally writes

$$\Pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \sigma_{\Lambda}^{\otimes n}.$$
(2.6)

Clearly, by (2.5),

$$\Pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}(\Gamma_{\Lambda}) = 1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \sigma_{\Lambda}^{\otimes n}(\Gamma_{\Lambda}^{(n)})$$
$$= 1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \sigma(\Lambda)^{n}$$
$$= \exp(\sigma(\Lambda)).$$

Therefore,

$$\pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)} := \exp(-\sigma(\Lambda)) \Pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}$$

is a probability measure on Γ_{Λ} . This measure is called Poisson measure on Γ_{Λ} with intensity σ . Thus, analogously to (2.6), we have

$$\pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)} = \exp(-\sigma(\Lambda)) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \sigma_{\Lambda}^{\otimes n}.$$

Let us calculate the Fourier transform of the Poisson measure π_{σ} . Let $f : \Lambda \to \mathbb{R}$ be a bounded measurable function. Then, using the definition of the Poisson measure, we have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Gamma_{\Lambda}} e^{i\langle f,\gamma\rangle} \pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}(d\gamma) \\ &= \exp(-\sigma(\Lambda)) \left[1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{\Lambda^{n}} e^{i(f(x_{1}) + \dots + f(x_{n}))} \sigma_{\Lambda}(dx_{1}) \cdots \sigma_{\Lambda}(dx_{n}) \right] \\ &= \exp(-\sigma(\Lambda)) \left[1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \left(\int_{\Lambda} e^{if(x)} \sigma_{\Lambda}(dx) \right)^{n} \right] \\ &= \exp\left(-\sigma(\Lambda) + \int_{\Lambda} e^{if(x)} \sigma(dx) \right) \end{split}$$

$$= \exp\left(\int_{\Lambda} (e^{if(x)} - 1)\sigma(dx)\right).$$
(2.7)

Let $\Delta \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$, $\Delta \subset \Lambda$, let $u \in \mathbb{R}$, and set $f(x) = u\chi_{\Delta}(x)$, where χ_{Δ} denotes the indicator function of Δ . Then, by (2.7),

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Gamma_{\Lambda}} e^{iu|\gamma \cap \Delta|} \pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}(d\gamma) &= \int_{\Gamma_{\Lambda}} e^{i\langle f, \gamma \rangle} \pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}(d\gamma) \\ &= \exp\left(\int_{\Lambda} (e^{iu\chi_{\Delta}(x)} - 1)\sigma(dx)\right) \\ &= \exp\left(\int_{\Delta} (e^{iu} - 1)\sigma(dx)\right) \\ &= \exp\left(\sigma(\Delta)(e^{iu} - 1)\right). \end{split}$$

This shows that, under the probability measure $\pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}$ the random variable $|\gamma \cap \Delta|$ has Poisson distribution with intensity $\sigma(\Delta)$. Recall that for any a > 0, the Poisson distribution with intensity a is the probability measure on \mathbb{R} given by

$$e^{-a}\sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\frac{a^n}{n!}\delta_n.$$

This is the reason why $\pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}$ is called Poisson measure.

Let now $f_1, \ldots, f_n : \Lambda \to \mathbb{R}$ be bounded and measurable and let us assume that these functions have mutually disjoint supports. Let $u_1, \ldots, u_n \in \mathbb{R}$. Thus, by (2.7),

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Gamma_{\Lambda}} e^{i(u_1\langle f_1, \gamma \rangle + \dots + u_n\langle f_n, \gamma \rangle)} \pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}(d\gamma) &= \int_{\Gamma_{\Lambda}} e^{i\langle u_1 f_1 + \dots + u_n f_n, \gamma \rangle} \pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}(d\gamma) \\ &= \exp\left(\int_{\Lambda} \left(e^{i(u_1 f_1(x) + \dots + u_n f_n(x))} - 1\right) \sigma(dx)\right) \right) \\ &= \exp\left(\int_{\Lambda} \sum_{i=1}^n \left(e^{iu_i f_i(x)} - 1\right) \sigma(dx)\right) \\ &= \prod_{i=1}^n \exp\left(\int_{\Lambda} \left(e^{iu_i f_i(x)} - 1\right) \sigma(dx)\right) \end{split}$$

$$=\prod_{i=1}^{n}\int_{\Gamma_{\Lambda}}e^{iu_{i}\langle f_{i},\gamma\rangle}\pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}(d\gamma).$$
(2.8)

Therefore, the random variables $\langle f_1, \gamma \rangle, \ldots, \langle f_n, \gamma \rangle$ are independent. In particular, if $\Delta_1, \ldots, \Delta_n \in \mathcal{B}_0(X), \ \Delta_1, \ldots, \Delta_n \subset \Lambda, \ \Delta_1, \ldots, \Delta_n$ are mutually disjoint, then the random variables $|\gamma \cap \Delta_1|, \ldots, |\gamma \cap \Delta_n|$ are independent.

2.3 Poisson measure in infinite volume

Again, let X be as in Section 2.1, and consider the measurable space $(\Gamma_X, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_X))$. Let σ be a Radon, non-atomic measure on $(X, \mathcal{B}(X))$. Let $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$. Recall that, in Section 2.1, we have identified the σ -algebra $\mathcal{B}(\Gamma_\Lambda)$ on Γ_Λ with the σ -algebra $\mathcal{B}_\Lambda(\Gamma_X)$ on Γ_X . Hence, by Section 2.2, we have the Poisson measure $\pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}$ on $(\Gamma_X, \mathcal{B}_\Lambda(\Gamma_X))$ Thus, we get a family of Poisson measures $(\pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)})_{\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)}$, where each $\pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}$ is a probability measure on $\mathcal{B}_\Lambda(\Gamma_X)$

Let Λ , $\Lambda' \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$, $\Lambda \subset \Lambda'$. Then evidently $\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma_X) \subset \mathcal{B}_{\Lambda'}(\Gamma_X)$. Let us check that the family $(\pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)})_{\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)}$ is consistent, i.e., for any Λ , Λ' as above, $\pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}$ is equal to the restriction of $\pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda')}$ to $\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma_X)$. Indeed, let $f: X \to \mathbb{R}$ be a bounded measurable function with support in Λ . Then, by (2.7),

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Gamma_X} e^{i\langle f,\gamma\rangle} \pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda')}(d\gamma) &= \int_{\Gamma_{\Lambda'}} e^{i\langle f,\gamma\rangle} \pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda')}(d\gamma) \\ &= \exp\left(\int_{\Lambda'} (e^{if(x)} - 1)\sigma(dx)\right) \\ &= \exp\left(\int_{\Lambda} (e^{if(x)} - 1)\sigma(dx) + \int_{\Lambda'\setminus\Lambda} (e^{if(x)} - 1)\sigma(dx)\right) \\ &= \exp\left(\int_{\Lambda} (e^{if(x)} - 1)\sigma(dx)\right) \\ &= \int_{\Gamma_{\Lambda}} e^{i\langle f,\gamma\rangle} \pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}(d\gamma) \end{split}$$

$$= \int_{\Gamma_X} e^{i\langle f,\gamma\rangle} \pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}(d\gamma)$$

Therefore, $\pi_{\sigma}^{\Lambda} = \pi_{\sigma}^{\Lambda'} \upharpoonright \mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma_X)$. The σ -algebra $\mathcal{B}(\Gamma_X)$ is the minimal σ algebra on Γ_X which contains each $\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma_X)$, $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$. Hence, by a version of Kolmogorov's existence theorem, there exists a unique probability measure π_{σ} on $(\Gamma_X, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_X))$ such that $\pi_{\sigma} \upharpoonright \mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma_X) = \pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}$. This measure π_{σ} is called the Poisson measure on $(\Gamma_X, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_X))$ with intensity σ .

Denote by $B_0(X)$ the space of all bounded, measurable function $f : X \to \mathbb{R}$ which have compact support. Fix any $f \in B_0(X)$ and denote $\Lambda := \operatorname{supp} f$, $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$. Hence the function $\langle f, \gamma \rangle$ on Γ_X is $\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma_X)$ -measurable. Then, by (2.7)

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Gamma_X} e^{\langle f, \gamma \rangle} \pi_\sigma(d\gamma) &= \int_{\Gamma_X} e^{\langle f, \gamma \rangle} \pi_\sigma^{(\Lambda)}(d\gamma) \\ &= \int_{\Gamma_\Lambda} e^{\langle f, \gamma \rangle} \pi_\sigma^{(\Lambda)}(d\gamma) \\ &= \exp\left(\int_{\Lambda} (e^{f(x)} - 1)\sigma(dx)\right) \\ &= \exp\left(\int_X (e^{f(x)} - 1)\sigma(dx)\right). \end{split}$$

Thus, the Laplace transform of π_{σ} is given by

$$\int_{\Gamma_X} e^{\langle f, \gamma \rangle} \pi_{\sigma}(d\gamma) = \exp\left(\int_X (e^{f(x)} - 1)\sigma(dx)\right), \quad f \in B_0(X).$$
(2.9)

Analogously to (2.8), we conclude that for any $f_1, \ldots, f_n \in B_0(X)$ with mutually disjoint supports, under π_{σ} the random variables $\langle f_1, \gamma \rangle, \ldots, \langle f_n, \gamma \rangle$ are independent, and in particular, for any $\Delta_1, \ldots, \Delta_n \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$, mutually disjoint, the random variables $|\gamma \cap \Delta_1|, \ldots, |\gamma \cap \Delta_n|$ are independent. Further, for each $\Delta \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$, the random variable $|\gamma \cap \Delta|$ has Poisson distribution with intensity $\sigma(\Delta)$

The following theorem gives a characterization of Poisson measure.

Theorem 2.1 (Mecke). For each measurable function $F : X \times \Gamma_X \rightarrow [0, +\infty]$, we have

$$\int_{\Gamma_X} \sum_{x \in \gamma} F(x, \gamma) \pi_{\sigma}(d\gamma) = \int_{\Gamma_X} \pi_{\sigma}(d\gamma) \int_X \sigma(dx) F(x, \gamma \cup x).$$
(2.10)

Furthermore, π_{σ} is uniquely characterized by the above equality, i.e., if μ is a probability measure on $(\Gamma_X, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_X))$ which satisfies

$$\int_{\Gamma_X} \sum_{x \in \gamma} F(x, \gamma) \mu(d\gamma) = \int_{\Gamma_X} \mu(d\gamma) \int_X \sigma(dx) F(x, \gamma \cup x)$$
(2.11)

for each measurable $F: X \times \Gamma_X \to [0, +\infty]$, then $\mu = \pi_{\sigma}$.

Remark 2.1. In formulas (2.10), (2.11) and below, for simplicity of notation, we sometimes write x instead of $\{x\}$.

The equality (2.10) is called the Mecke identity. Since this identity will play a crucial role in our research, we will now briefly recall a proof of (2.10). (Note that the harder part of the proof of the Mecke theorem is, in fact, to prove that the equality (2.11) implies that $\mu = \pi_{\sigma}$, see [35].)

So, let us first fix any $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$ and let $F : \Lambda \times \Gamma_\Lambda \to [0, +\infty]$ be a measurable function. Then, using the definition of the Poisson measure in finite volume, we have

$$\int_{\Gamma_{\Lambda}} \sum_{x \in \gamma_{\Lambda}} F(x, \gamma_{\Lambda}) \pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}(d\gamma_{\Lambda})$$

$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \int_{\Gamma_{\Lambda}^{(n)}} \sum_{x \in \gamma_{\Lambda}} F(x, \gamma_{\Lambda}) \pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}(d\gamma_{\Lambda})$$

$$= e^{-\sigma(\Lambda)} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{\widetilde{\Lambda}^{n}} \sum_{i=1}^{n} F(x_{i}, \{x_{1}, \dots, x_{n}\}) \sigma(dx_{1}) \dots \sigma(dx_{n}). \quad (2.12)$$

Note that

$$\int_{\widetilde{\Lambda}^n} F(x_1, \{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}) \, \sigma(dx_1) \ldots \sigma(dx_n)$$

$$= \int_{\widetilde{\Lambda}^n} F(x_2, \{x_1, \dots, x_n\}) \,\sigma(dx_1) \dots \sigma(dx_n)$$
$$= \dots = \int_{\widetilde{\Lambda}^n} F(x_n, \{x_1, \dots, x_n\}) \,\sigma(dx_1) \dots \sigma(dx_n).$$

Thus, we continue (2.12) as follows:

$$= e^{-\sigma(\Lambda)} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \int_{\tilde{\Lambda}^n} F\left(x_1, \{x_1, \dots, x_n\}\right) \sigma(dx_1) \cdots \sigma(dx_n)$$

$$= e^{-\sigma(\Lambda)} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \int_{\Lambda^{n-1}} \sigma(dx_1) \cdots \sigma(dx_{n-1}) F\left(x, \{x_1, \dots, x_{n-1}\} \cup \{x\}\right)$$

$$= e^{-\sigma(\Lambda)} \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{\Lambda^n} \sigma(dx_1) \cdots \sigma(dx_n) F\left(x, \{x_1, \dots, x_n\} \cup \{x\}\right)$$

$$= \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \int_{\Gamma_{\Lambda}} \pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}(d\gamma_{\Lambda}) F\left(x, \gamma_{\Lambda} \cup \{x\}\right).$$

Next, let $F: X \times \Gamma_X \to [0, +\infty]$ be measurable and such that there exist $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$ for which $F(x, \gamma) = F(x, \gamma \cap \Lambda)$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma_X$ and $x \in X$, and $F(x, \gamma) = 0$ if $x \notin \Lambda$. Then

$$\int_{\Gamma_X} \sum_{x \in \gamma} F(x, \gamma) \pi_{\sigma}(d\gamma) = \int_{\Gamma_X} \sum_{x \in \gamma \cap \Lambda} F(x, \gamma) \pi_{\sigma}(d\gamma).$$
(2.13)

Since for each $x \in X$, $F(\cdot, x)$ is $\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma_X)$ -measurable, we see that $\sum_{x \in \gamma \cap \Lambda} F(x, \gamma)$ is a $\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda}(\Gamma_X)$ -measurable function. Hence, we continue (2.13) as follows:

$$= \int_{\Gamma_{\Lambda}} \sum_{x \in \gamma_{\Lambda}} F(x, \gamma_{\Lambda}) \pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}(d\gamma_{\Lambda})$$

$$= \int_{\Gamma_{\Lambda}} \pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}(d\gamma_{\Lambda}) \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) F(x, \gamma_{\Lambda} \cup \{x\})$$

$$= \int_{\Gamma_{\Lambda}} \pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}(d\gamma_{\Lambda}) \int_{X} \sigma(dx) F(x, \gamma_{\Lambda} \cup \{x\})$$

$$= \int_{\Gamma} \pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}(d\gamma) \int_{X} \sigma(dx) F(x, \gamma \cup \{x\}).$$

Hence, we proved the Mecke identity in the special case of F as above.

Let now $(\Lambda_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ be such that, $\Lambda_n \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$, $\Lambda_n \subset \Lambda_{n+1}$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \Lambda_n = X$. Let $F: X \times \Gamma_X \to [0, +\infty]$ be measurable. Take a sequence $(F_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ of functions $F_n: X \times \Gamma_X \to [0, +\infty]$ such that

- i) For each $x \in X$, $F_n(x, \gamma) = F_n(x, \gamma \cap \Lambda_n)$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma_x$;
- ii) For each $\gamma \in \Gamma_X$, $F_n(x, \gamma) = 0$ if $x \notin \Lambda_n$;
- iii) $F_1(x,\gamma) \leq F_2(x,\gamma) \leq F_3(x,\gamma) \leq \cdots, \gamma \in \Gamma_X, x \in X;$
- iv) $F_n(x,\gamma) \to F(x,\gamma)$ as $n \to \infty$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma_X$ and $x \in X$.

(Note that the existence of such a sequence follows from the fact that $\mathcal{B}(\Gamma_X)$ is the minimal σ -algebra on Γ_X which contains all $\mathcal{B}_{\Lambda_n}(\Gamma_X)$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$.) Then, by the proved above,

$$\int_{\Gamma_X} \sum_{x \in \gamma} F_n(x, \gamma) \pi_\sigma(d\gamma) = \int_{\Gamma_X} \pi_\sigma(d\gamma) \int_X \sigma(dx) F_n(x, \gamma \cup x).$$

Now, letting $n \to \infty$, by the monotone convergence theorem, the Mecke identity follows.

2.4 Correlation measure and correlation functions

We start with a general definition. Let μ be a probability measure (point process) on $(\Gamma_X, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_X))$. Then the correlation measure ρ_μ of μ is a measure on $(\Gamma_{X,0}, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_{X,0}))$ which $\int_{\Gamma_X} (KG)(\eta)\mu(d\eta) = \int_{\Gamma_{X,0}} G(\eta)\rho_\mu(d\eta)$ $\int_{\Gamma_X} (KG)(\eta)\mu(d\eta) = \int_{\Gamma_{X,0}} G(\eta)\rho_\mu(d\eta)$ (2.14)

for any measurable $G: \Gamma_{X,0} \to [0,\infty]$. Here

$$(KG)(\gamma) := \sum_{\eta \in \gamma} G(\eta)$$

where the summation is over all finite subset η of γ . It can be easily shown that ρ_{μ} indeed exists and is uniquely defined by (2.14), see e.g. [22].

Assume that we have fixed a Radon, non-atomic measure σ on $(X, \mathcal{B}(X))$, and let Π_{σ} denote the corresponding Lebesgue-Poisson measure on $(\Gamma_{X,0}, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_{X,0}))$, i.e.,

$$\Pi_{\sigma} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \, \sigma^{\otimes n}$$

(compare with (2.6)). If the correlation measure ρ_{μ} is absolutely continuous with respect to Π_{σ} , then its Radon–Nikodym derivative k_{μ} is called the correlation functional of μ . Thus

$$\int_{\Gamma_X} (KG)(\gamma)\mu(d\gamma) = \int_{\Gamma_{X,0}} G(\eta)k_\mu(\eta)\Pi_\sigma(d\eta)$$

Clearly, the restriction of k_{μ} to any $\Gamma_X^{(n)}$ may be identified with a symmetric function $k_{\mu}^{(n)}$ on X^n (in fact, on \widetilde{X}^n , see (2.2)). The sequence of functions $(k_{\mu}^{(n)})_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is called the sequence of correlation functions of μ . (Note that since μ is a probability measure, we always have $k_{\mu}(\emptyset) = 1$.)

Let us now consider the case where μ is the Poisson measure π_{σ} .

Proposition 2.1. The correlation measure of the Poisson measure π_{σ} is the Lebesgue–Poisson measure Π_{σ} , so that the correlation functions of π_{σ} are all identically equal to 1.

Proof. It suffices to show that for any symmetric measurable function $f^{(n)}: X^n \to [0, +\infty], n \in \mathbb{N}$, we have

$$\int_{\Gamma_X} \sum_{\{x_1,\dots,x_n\} \subset \gamma} f^{(n)}(x_1,\dots,x_n) \pi_{\sigma}(d\gamma)$$

= $\frac{1}{n!} \int_{X^n} f^{(n)}(x_1,\dots,x_n) \sigma(dx_1) \cdots \sigma(dx_n).$

Using the Mecke identity and the Fubini theorem we have:

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Gamma_X} \sum_{\{x_1,\dots,x_n\} \subset \gamma} f^{(n)}(x_1,\dots,x_n) \pi_{\sigma}(d\gamma) \\ &= \int_{\Gamma_X} \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{x_1 \in \gamma} \sum_{x_2 \in \gamma \setminus \{x_1\}} \sum_{x_3 \in \gamma \setminus \{x_1,x_2\}} \dots \sum_{x_n \in \gamma \setminus \{x_1,\dots,x_n\}} f^{(n)}(x_1,\dots,x_n) \pi_{\sigma}(d\gamma) \\ &= \frac{1}{n!} \int_{\Gamma_X} \sum_{x_1 \in \gamma} \left(\sum_{y_1 \in \gamma \setminus \{x_1\}} \sum_{y_2 \in \gamma \setminus \{x_1,y_1\}} \dots \sum_{y_{n-1} \in \gamma \setminus \{x_1,y_1,\dots,y_{n-2}\}} f^{(n)}(x_1,y_1,\dots,y_{n-1}) \right) \pi_{\sigma}(d\gamma) \\ &= \frac{1}{n!} \int_{\Gamma_X} \pi_{\sigma}(d\gamma) \int_X \sigma(dx_1) \sum_{y_1 \in \gamma} \sum_{y_2 \in \gamma \setminus \{y_1\}} \dots \sum_{y_{n-1} \in \gamma \setminus \{y_1,\dots,y_{n-1}\}} f^{(n)}(x_1,y_1,\dots,y_{n-1}) \\ &= \frac{1}{n!} \int_X \sigma(dx_1) \int_{\Gamma_X} \pi_{\sigma}(d\gamma) \sum_{x_2 \in \gamma} \sum_{y_1 \in \gamma \setminus \{x_2\}} \dots \sum_{y_{n-2} \in \gamma \setminus \{x_2,y_1,\dots,y_{n-3}\}} f^{(n)}(x_1,x_2,y_1,\dots,y_{n-2}) \\ &= \frac{1}{n!} \int_X \sigma(dx_1) \int_{\Gamma_X} \pi_{\sigma}(d\gamma) \int_X \sigma(dx_2) \sum_{y_1 \in \gamma} \sum_{y_2 \in \gamma \setminus \{y_1\}} \dots \sum_{y_{n-2} \in \gamma \setminus \{y_1,\dots,y_{n-3}\}} f^{(n)}(x_1,x_2,y_1,\dots,y_{n-2}) \\ &= \frac{1}{n!} \int_X \sigma(dx_1) \dots \int_X \sigma(dx_n) \int_{\Gamma_X} \pi_{\sigma}(d\gamma) f^n(x_1,\dots,x_n) \\ &= \dots = \frac{1}{n!} \int_{X_n} f^{(n)}(x_1,\dots,x_n) \sigma(dx_1) \dots \sigma(dx_n). \quad \Box \end{split}$$

Corollary 2.1. Let ν be a Radon measure on $(X, \mathcal{B}(X))$ which is absolutely continuous with respect to σ , i.e. $\nu(dx) = g(dx)\sigma(dx)$. Then the Poisson measure π_{ν} has the correlation functions related to the Lebesgue–Poisson measure Π_{σ} given by

$$k_{\pi_{\nu}}^{(n)}(x_1,\ldots,x_n) = g(x_1)\cdots g(x_n).$$
 (2.15)

Proof. By Proposition 2.1, the correlation measure of π_{ν} is Π_{ν} , which has the following Radon-Nikodym derivative with respect to Π_{σ} : $k_{\pi_{\nu}}(\eta) = \prod_{x \in \eta} g(x)$, from where (2.15) follows. \Box

2.5 Cox point processes

A Cox point process (also called a doubly stochastic Poisson process) is a Poisson point process with random intensity measure. In the most general case one can consider random Radon non-atomic measure $\sigma(dx, \omega)$ as intencity measure of Poisson processes. We will, however, only treat the case where we have a fixed Radon non-atomic measure σ on X and random intensity $g(x, \omega)$.

So we fix a space X as in Section 2.1. Let σ be fixed Radon, nonatomic measure on $(X, \mathcal{B}(X))$. Let $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}, \mathbb{P})$ be a probability space and let $g: X \times \Omega \to [0, \infty]$ be a measurable function on $(X \times \Omega, \mathcal{B}(X) \otimes \mathcal{A})$.

Furthermore, we will assume that, for each $\Delta \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$ and each $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\int_{\Delta} g(x,\omega) \sigma(dx) \right)^{n} \mathbb{P}(d\omega) < \infty.$$
 (2.16)

In particular, for a.a. $\omega \in \Omega$, $g(\cdot, \omega)$ is a locally integrable function with respect to σ . Therefore, for a.a. $\omega \in \Omega$, $g(x, \omega)\sigma(dx)$ is a Radon, non-atomic measure on $(X, \mathcal{B}(X))$. So, we can construct the Poisson measure $\pi_{g(x,\omega)\sigma(dx)}$. Then, we define a probability measure μ on $(\Gamma_X, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_X))$ by

$$\mu(A) := \int_{\Omega} \pi_{g(x,\omega)\sigma(dx)}(A) \mathbb{P}(d\omega)$$
$$= \mathbb{E}\left(\pi_{g(x,\cdot)\sigma(dx)}(A)\right), \quad A \in \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_X).$$
(2.17)

(Here \mathbb{E} denotes the expectation with respect to \mathbb{P} .) Such a measure is called a Cox point process. For simplicity, we will call it a Cox measure.

Proposition 2.2. The Cox measure μ has all local moments finite, i.e., for any $\Delta \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$ and for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\int_{\Gamma_X} |\gamma \cap \Delta|^n \, \mu(d\gamma) < \infty.$$

Proof. We fix $\Delta \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$ and let χ_{Δ} denote the indicator function of Δ . Then, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\int_{\Gamma_X} |\gamma \cap \Delta|^n \mu(d\gamma) = \int_{\Gamma_X} \langle \chi_\Delta, \gamma \rangle^n \mu(d\gamma)$$
$$= \int_{\Gamma_X} \sum_{x_1 \in \gamma} \cdots \sum_{x_n \in \gamma} \chi_\Delta(x_1) \cdots \chi_\Delta(x_n) \mu(d\gamma).$$
(2.18)

To show that (2.18) is finite, it suffices to prove that, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\int_{\Gamma_X} \sum_{\{x_1,\ldots,x_n\} \subset \gamma} \chi_{\Delta}(x_1) \cdots \chi_{\Delta}(x_n) \mu(d\gamma) < \infty.$$

But by Corollary 2.1 and (2.16), we have

$$\int_{\Gamma_{X}} \sum_{\{x_{1},\dots,x_{n}\}\subset\gamma} \chi_{\Delta}(x_{1})\cdots\chi_{\Delta}(x_{n})\mu(d\gamma)$$

$$= \int_{\Omega} \left(\int_{\Gamma_{X}} \sum_{\{x_{1},\dots,x_{n}\}\subset\gamma} \chi_{\Delta}(x_{1})\cdots\chi_{\Delta}(x_{n})\pi_{g(x,\omega)\sigma(dx)} \right) \mathbb{P}(d\omega)$$

$$= \frac{1}{n!} \int_{\Omega} \left(\int_{X^{n}} \chi_{\Delta}(x_{1})\cdots\chi_{\Delta}(x_{n})g(x_{1},\omega)\dots g(x_{n},\omega)\sigma(dx_{1})\cdots\sigma(dx_{n}) \right) \mathbb{P}(d\omega)$$

$$= \frac{1}{n!} \int_{\Omega} \left(\int_{\Delta} g(x,\omega)\sigma(dx) \right)^{n} \mathbb{P}(d\omega) < \infty. \quad \Box \qquad (2.19)$$

The following proposition identifies correlation functions of a Cox measure.

Proposition 2.3. The Cox measure μ has correlation functions

$$k_{\mu}^{(n)}(x_1,\ldots,x_n) = \int_{\Omega} g(x_1,\omega)\cdots g(x_n,\omega)\mathbb{P}(d\omega), \quad n \in \mathbb{N}$$
(2.20)

which are $\sigma^{\otimes n}$ -a.e. finite.

Proof. Let us take any symmetric measurable function $f^{(n)}: X^n \to [0, \infty]$. Then, by Corollary 2.1,

$$\int_{\Gamma_X} \sum_{\{x_1,\ldots,x_n\}\subset\gamma} f^{(n)}(x_1,\ldots,x_n)\mu(d\gamma)$$

$$= \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \int_{\Gamma_X} \sum_{\{x_1,\dots,x_n\} \subset \gamma} f^{(n)}(x_1,\dots,x_n) \pi_{g(x,\omega)\sigma(dx)}(d\gamma)$$

$$= \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \int_{X^n} f^{(n)}(x_1,\dots,x_n) g(x_1,\omega) \cdots g(x_n,\omega)\sigma(dx_1) \cdots \sigma(dx_n)$$

$$= \int_{X^n} f^{(n)}(x_1,\dots,x_n) \left(\int_{\Omega} g(x_1,\omega) \cdots g(x_n,\omega) \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \right) \sigma(dx_1) \cdots \sigma(dx_n),$$

which proves (2.20).

.

Let us choose any $\Delta \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$. Then, by (2.16)

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Delta^n} \int_{\Omega} g(x_1, \omega) \cdots g(x_n, \omega) \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \sigma(dx_1) \cdots \sigma(dx_n) \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \left(\int_{\Delta} g(x_1, \omega) \sigma(dx_1) \right) \left(\int_{\Delta} g(x_2, \omega) \sigma(dx_2) \right) \cdots \left(\int_{\Delta} g(x_n, \omega) \sigma(dx_n) \right) \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \left(\int_{\Delta} g(x, \omega) \sigma(dx) \right)^n \mathbb{P}(d\omega) < \infty. \end{split}$$

Therefore, for $\sigma^{\otimes n}$ -a.a. $(x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in \Delta^n$, $\int_{\Omega} g(x_1, \omega) \cdots g(x_n, \omega) \mathbb{P}(d\omega) < \infty$, and hence the above is true for $\sigma^{\otimes n}$ -a.a. $(x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in X^n$. \Box

Next, let us find the Laplace transform of μ . If $f \in B_0(X)$, and $f \leq 0$, then, by (2.9)

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Gamma_X} e^{\langle f, \gamma \rangle} \mu(d\gamma) &= \int_{\Omega} \left(\int_{\Gamma_X} e^{\langle f, \gamma \rangle} \pi_{g(x,\omega)\sigma(dx)}(d\gamma) \right) \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \exp\left(\int_X (e^{f(x)} - 1)g(x,\omega)\sigma(dx) \right) \mathbb{P}(d\omega). \end{split}$$

(Note that due to the condition $f \leq 0$, the above integrals are finite.) However, to be able to write down the Laplace transform for a general $f \in B_0(X)$, we need to have a bound on correlation functions. First, we will derive the following fact, which is true for any point process with some upper bound on its correlation functions.

Proposition 2.4. Assume ρ is a probability measure on $(\Gamma_X, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_X))$. Assume that ρ has correlation functions $(k_{\rho}^{(n)})_{n=1}^{\infty}$ which satisfy

$$k_{\rho}^{(n)}(x_1,\ldots,x_n) \le C^n (n!)^{\varepsilon} \tag{2.21}$$

for $\sigma^{\otimes n}$ -a.a. $(x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in X^n$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$, where C > 0 and $\varepsilon \in [0, 1)$. Then, for each $f \in B_0(X)$, we have

$$\int_{\Gamma_X} e^{\langle f, \gamma \rangle} \rho(d\gamma)$$

= $1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{X^n} (e^{f(x_1)} - 1) \cdots (e^{f(x_n)} - 1) k_{\rho}^{(n)}(x_1, \dots, x_n) \sigma(dx_1) \cdots \sigma(dx_n),$
(2.22)

the integral on the left hand side of (2.22) being finite.

Proof. For a function $u: X \to \mathbb{R}$, we define $e_{\lambda}(u, \cdot): \Gamma_{X,0} \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$e_{\lambda}(u,\eta) := \prod_{x \in \eta} u(x),$$

where $\prod_{x \in \mathscr{B}} u(x) := 1$. Then, for each $f \in B_0(X)$, we easily have

$$\left(Ke_{\lambda}(e^{f}-1,\cdot)\right)(\gamma) = e^{\langle f,\gamma \rangle}.$$
(2.23)

Hence, using (2.23) and the upper bound (2.21), we conclude the statement. \Box

Now, let us assume that

$$\int_{\Omega} g(x,\omega)^{n} \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \le C^{n}(n!)^{\varepsilon}, \qquad (2.24)$$

where C > 0, $\varepsilon \in [0, 1)$. Then, for any $(x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in X^n$, we get for the Cox measure μ ,

$$\begin{aligned} k_{\mu}^{(n)}(x_1,\ldots,x_n) &= \int_{\Omega} g(x_1,\omega)\cdots g(x_n,\omega)\mathbb{P}(d\omega) \\ &\leq \left(\int_{\Omega} g^n(x_1,\omega)\mathbb{P}(d\omega)\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}\cdots \left(\int_{\Omega} g^n(x_n,\omega)\mathbb{P}(d\omega)\right)^{\frac{1}{n}} \\ &\leq C^n(n!)^{\varepsilon}. \end{aligned}$$

Hence, we have

Proposition 2.5. Assume that (2.24) holds. Then, for each $f \in B_0(X)$, we have

$$\int_{\Gamma_X} e^{\langle f, \gamma \rangle} \mu(d\gamma)$$

= $1 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \int_{X^n} (e^{f(x_1)} - 1) \cdots (e^{f(x_n)} - 1) k_{\mu}^{(n)}(x_1, \dots, x_n) \sigma(dx_1) \cdots \sigma(dx_n),$
(2.25)

where $k_{\mu}^{(n)}$ is given by (2.20).

Remark 2.2. Assume that the estimate (2.24) holds for $\varepsilon = 1$, i.e.,

$$\int_{\Omega} g(x,\omega)^n \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \le C^n n!$$

Then, it follows from the above that we still can write down formula (2.25) for $f \in B_0(X)$ which is sufficiently small, more exactly for f satisfying

$$\int_X |e^{f(x)} - 1|\sigma(dx) < \frac{1}{C}$$

Note that, in many situations, the knowledge of the Laplace transform in a neighbourhood of 0 is enough.

Another trivial remark about Cox measures is the formula for its local densities. In general, if ρ is a probability measure on $(\Gamma_X, \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_X))$, and if $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$, then we denote by $\rho^{(\Lambda)}$ the image of ρ under the projection mapping $P^{(\Lambda)} : \Gamma_X \to \Gamma_\Lambda$ given by $P^{(\Lambda)}(\gamma) := \gamma \cap \Lambda, \gamma \in \Gamma_X$.

In particular, if π_{σ} is the Poisson measure with intensity σ , then $\pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}$ is the projection of π_{σ} onto Γ_{Λ} . If the projection $\rho^{(\Lambda)}$ is absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue-Poisson measure $\Pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}$, then we call its Radon-Nikodym derivative $\frac{d\rho^{(\Lambda)}}{d\Pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}}$ the local density of ρ in Λ . We then define

$$d^{(0)}_{
ho,\Lambda}:=
ho^{(\Lambda)}(arnothing),$$

$$d_{\rho,\Lambda}^{(n)}(x_1,\ldots,x_n) = \frac{d\rho^{\Lambda}}{d\Pi_{\sigma}^{(\Lambda)}}(\{x_1,\ldots,x_n\}), \quad (x_1,\ldots,x_n) \in \Lambda^n, n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

In particular, in the case where $\rho = \pi_{g(\cdot)\sigma}$, we have

$$d_{\pi_{g(\cdot)\sigma},\Lambda}^{(0)} = \exp\left(-\int_{\Lambda} g(x)\sigma(dx)\right),$$
$$d_{\pi_{g(\cdot)\sigma},\Lambda}^{(n)}(x_1,\ldots,x_n) = \exp\left(-\int_{\Lambda} g(x)\sigma(dx)\right)g(x_1)\cdots g(x_n).$$

From here, we conclude:

Proposition 2.6. Let μ be a Cox measure satisfying (2.16). Then, for each $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$, we have

$$d_{\mu,\Lambda}^{(0)} = \int_{\Omega} \exp\left(-\int_{\Lambda} g(x,\omega)\sigma(dx)\right) \mathbb{P}(d\omega),$$

$$d_{\mu,\Lambda}^{(n)}(x_1,\ldots,x_n) = \int_{\Omega} \exp\left(-\int_{\Lambda} g(x,\omega)\sigma(dx)\right) g(x_1,\omega)\cdots g(x_n,\omega)\mathbb{P}(d\omega), \quad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

The integrals are $\sigma^{\otimes n}$ a.e. finite.

Our next aim is to prove an analogue of the Mecke formula for a Cox measure. Consider the space $\Omega \times \Gamma_X$ equipped with the product σ -algebra $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_X)$. Denote by $\widetilde{\mathbb{P}}$ the probability measure on $(\Omega \times \Gamma_X, \mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_X))$ defined by

$$\widetilde{\mathbb{P}}(d\omega, d\gamma) := \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \pi_{g(x,\omega)\sigma(dx)}(d\gamma).$$
(2.26)

We will denote by $\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}$ the expectation with respect to $\widetilde{\mathbb{P}}$. Denote by \mathcal{F} the sub- σ -algebra of $\mathcal{A} \otimes \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_X)$ containing all sets of the form $\Omega \times B$, where $B \in \mathcal{B}(\Gamma_X)$, (in particular, $\Omega \times \emptyset = \emptyset$). Thus, an \mathcal{F} -measurable random variable $F(\omega, \gamma)$ does not depend on ω .

Theorem 2.2. Let μ be a Cox measure. We define

$$r(x,\gamma) := \widetilde{\mathbb{E}}(g(x,\cdot) \mid \mathcal{F})(\gamma). \tag{2.27}$$

Then, for each measurable function $F: X \times \Gamma_X \to [0, +\infty]$, we have

$$\int_{\Gamma_X} \sum_{x \in \gamma} F(x, \gamma) \mu(d\gamma) = \int_{\Gamma_X} \mu(d\gamma) \int_X \sigma(dx) \, r(x, \gamma) F(x, \gamma \cup x). \tag{2.28}$$

Remark 2.3. Formula (2.28) means, in particular, that a Cox measure μ has property (Σ'_{σ}) , which was introduced by Matthes, Warmuth, and Mecke in [38]. The function $r(x, \gamma)$ is called the Papangelou intensity of a Cox measure. This property may be treated as a weak Gibbsianess of μ , compare with [19]. *Proof of Theorem 2.2.* Fix any measurable function $F: X \times \Gamma_X \to [0, +\infty]$. Then, using the definition of Cox measure and the Mecke formula, we have:

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Gamma_X} \sum_{x \in \gamma} F(x, \gamma) \mu(d\gamma) &= \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \int_{\Gamma_X} \pi_{g(\cdot, \omega) d\sigma}(d\gamma) \sum_{x \in \gamma} F(x, \gamma) \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \int_{\Gamma_X} \pi_{g(\cdot, \omega) d\sigma}(d\gamma) \int_X \sigma(dx) g(x, \omega) F(x, \gamma \cup x) \\ &= \int_X \sigma(dx) \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \int_{\Gamma_X} \pi_{g(\cdot, \omega) d\sigma}(d\gamma) g(x, \omega) F(x, \gamma \cup x) \\ &= \int_X \sigma(dx) \int_{\Omega \times \Gamma_X} \widetilde{\mathbb{P}}(d\omega, d\gamma) g(x, \omega) F(x, \gamma \cup x) | \mathcal{F})(\gamma) \\ &= \int_X \sigma(dx) \int_{\Omega \times \Gamma_X} \widetilde{\mathbb{P}}(d\omega, d\gamma) \widetilde{\mathbb{E}}(g(x, \omega) | \mathcal{F})(\gamma) F(x, \gamma \cup x) \\ &= \int_X \sigma(dx) \int_{\Omega \times \Gamma_X} \widetilde{\mathbb{P}}(d\omega, d\gamma) \widetilde{\mathbb{E}}(g(x, \omega) | \mathcal{F})(\gamma) F(x, \gamma \cup x) \\ &= \int_X \sigma(dx) \int_{\Omega \times \Gamma_X} \widetilde{\mathbb{P}}(d\omega, d\gamma) r(x, \gamma) F(x, \gamma \cup x) \\ &= \int_X \sigma(dx) \int_{\Omega \times \Gamma_X} \widetilde{\mathbb{P}}(d\omega) \int_{\Gamma_X} \pi_{g(\cdot, \omega) d\sigma}(\gamma) r(x, \gamma) F(x, \gamma \cup x) \\ &= \int_X \sigma(dx) \int_{\Gamma_X} \mu(d\gamma) r(x, \gamma) F(x, \gamma \cup x) \\ &= \int_X \sigma(dx) \int_{\Gamma_X} \mu(d\gamma) r(x, \gamma) F(x, \gamma \cup x) . \quad \Box \end{split}$$

31

Chapter 3

Permanental point processes

In this chapter, we will discuss one of the most important classes of Cox point processes — the permanental (or boson) point process [10, 37, 44]. First, we recall some facts from functional analysis.

3.1 Preliminaries

We will first recall some facts related to functional analysis and infinite dimensional analysis. For further details and proofs, see e.g. [5, 6, 7]

3.1.1 Some classes of linear operators

For any Hilbert spaces H_1 and H_2 , we denote by $B(H_1, H_2)$ the set of all bounded linear operators from H_1 into H_2 . As usual, we denote B(H) := B(H, H).

We will always assume that all the Hilbert spaces we consider are real and separable, i.e., they possess a countable dense subset.

Integral operators: Let (X, \mathcal{A}, σ) be a measure space with a σ -finite measure σ . An operator $K \in B(L^2(X, \sigma))$ is called an integral operator if there

exists a measurable function $k: X^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$(KF)(x) = \int_X k(x,y)f(y)\sigma(dy), \quad f \in L^2(X,\sigma).$$

The function k(x, y) is called the integral kernel of the operator K. If the integral operator K is self-adjoint(i.e. $K^* = \mathcal{K}^*$), then its integral kernel is symmetric, i.e,

$$k(y,x) = k(x,y), \quad (x,y) \in X^2.$$

Hilbert-Schmidt operators: An operator $T \in B(H)$ is called a Hilbert-Schmidt operator if there exists an orthonormal basis $\{e_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ of H such that

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|Te_n\|^2 < \infty, \tag{3.1}$$

where $|| \cdot ||$ denotes the norm on the Hilbert space H. In the latter case, the inequality (3.1) holds for any orthonormal basis $\{e_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ in H and furthermore, the value $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||Te_n||^2$ is independent of the choice of an orthonormal basis $\{e_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$.

For $T \in B(H)$, let T^* denote the adjoint operator of T. Then, T is a Hilbert–Schmidt operator if and only if T^* is a Hilbert–Schmidt operator and

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|Te_n\|^2 = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|T^*f_n\|^2$$

for any orthonormal bases $\{e_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ and $\{f_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ of H.

In the case where $H = L^2(X, \sigma)$, an operator K is Hilbert–Schmidt if and only if K is an integral operator and $k \in L^2(X^2, \sigma^{\otimes 2})$, where k is the integral kernel of K. In fact, one has

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|Te_n\|^2 = \int_X \int_X k(x, y)^2 \sigma(dx) \sigma(dy)$$

for any orthonormal basis $\{e_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ of $L^2(X, \sigma)$.

An operator $T \in B(H)$ is called a trace class operator if it can be represented as $T = \sum_{k=1}^{n} A_k B_k$, where $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $A_1, \ldots, A_n, B_1, \ldots, B_n$ are Hilbert–Schmidt operators. If T is a trace class operator and $\{e_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is an orthonormal basis in H, then the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (Te_n, e_n)_H$ converges absolutely and its value, called the trace of the operator T, is independent of the choice of orthonormal basis.

3.1.2 Functional calculus of a self-adjoint operator

Let T be a bounded operator in a complex Hilbert space H. Then the spectrum of T is the subset $\sigma(T)$ of \mathbb{C} consisting of all $z \in \mathbb{C}$ such that the operator $A - z\mathbf{1}$ is not invertible. If the Hilbert space H is finite-dimensional, then the spectrum of T is just the set of its eigenvalues. The spectrum $\sigma(T)$ is a closed subset of the circle centered at 0 and of radius ||T||. If, additionally, T is a self-adjoint operator, then $\sigma(T) \subset \mathbb{R}$, so that $\sigma(T)$ is a closed subset of the interval [-||T||, ||T||].

A mapping

$$\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}) \ni \alpha \mapsto E(\alpha) \in B(H)$$

is called a resolution of the identity if the following conditions are satisfied:

- For each $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$, $E(\alpha)$ is an orthogonal projection in H.
- $E(\emptyset) = 0, E(\mathbb{R}) = \mathbf{1}.$
- If {α_n}_{n=1}[∞], α_n ∈ B(ℝ), n ∈ N, α_n are mutually disjoint, then for each f ∈ H

$$E\Big(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty}\alpha_n\Big)f=\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}E(\alpha_n)f,$$

where the series converges in H.
It follows from the definition of resolution of the identity that, for any vectors $f, g \in H$, the mapping

$$\mathcal{A} \ni \alpha \mapsto (E(\alpha)f,g)_H$$

is a complex-valued measure on $(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}))$.

To any bounded self-adjoint operator T in H, there corresponds a unique resolution of the identity such that

$$T = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \lambda \, dE(\lambda). \tag{3.2}$$

The equality (3.2) should be understood as follows: for any $f, g \in H$

$$(Tf,g)_{H} = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \lambda \, d(E(\lambda)f,g). \tag{3.3}$$

Furthermore, the inverse statement holds. If E is a resolution of the identity with compact support in \mathbb{R} , that is if there exists a compact set $\Delta \in B(\mathbb{R})$ such that, for any $f, g \in H$, the measure $d(E(\lambda)f, g)$ is concentrated on Δ , then E determines a bounded self-adjoint operator in H through the formulas (3.2) and (3.3).

In fact, the resolution of the identity of any bounded self-adjoint operator T is concentrated on the spectrum of T. That is, for any $f, g \in H$, the support of the measure $d(E(\lambda)f,g)$ is a subset of $\sigma(T)$.

Let F be a real-valued bounded measurable function on the spectrum of T. Then one defines a bounded self-adjoint operator F(T) as

$$F(T) := \int_{\sigma(T)} F(\lambda) d\mathbb{E}(\lambda),$$

that is for any $f, g \in H$.

$$(F(T)f,g)_{H} = \int_{\sigma(T)} F(\lambda)d\left(\mathbb{E}(\lambda)f,g\right).$$

One can show that, for any bounded measurable functions $F, G : \sigma(T) \to \mathbb{R}$,

$$F(T)G(T) = \int_{\sigma(T)} F(\lambda)G(\lambda)d\mathbb{E}(\lambda).$$

For example, choosing function f to be $f(x) = \sqrt{x}$ and assuming that $T \ge 0$, i.e., $(Tf, f) \ge 0$ for all $f \in H$ (so that $\sigma(T) \subset [0, ||T||]$), we get the operator \sqrt{T} , which is a bounded self-adjoint operator satisfying $\sqrt{T}\sqrt{T} = T$.

3.1.3 Integral kernel of a locally trace-class operator

In this section, we follow [32]. Let X be a topological space as in Chapter 2, and let σ be a non-atomic Radon measure on $(X, \mathcal{B}(X))$. Let K be a bounded, linear, self-adjoint operator in $L^2(X, \sigma)$ which satisfies $K \geq 0$. Denote $K_1 := \sqrt{K}$, (see subsection 3.1.2)

Below, for an integral operator I in $L^2(X, \sigma)$, we will denote by $\mathcal{N}(I)$ the kernel of I.

For each $\Delta \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$ denote by P_{Δ} the operator of multiplication by χ_{Δ} , which is an orthogonal projection in $L^2(X, \sigma)$. We will assume that K is a locally trace class operator, that is, for each $\Delta \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$ the operator $P_{\Delta}KP_{\Delta}$ is of trace class. For each $\Delta \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$,

$$P_{\Delta}K_1(P_{\Delta}K_1)^* = P_{\Delta}K_1K_1P_{\Delta} = P_{\Delta}KP_{\Delta}.$$

Therefore, if $(e_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is an orthonormal basis of $L^2(X, \sigma)$, then

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (P_{\Delta}KP_{\Delta}e_n, e_n) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (P_{\Delta}K_1(P_{\Delta}K_1)^*e_n, e_n)$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ((P_{\Delta}K_1)^*e_n, (P_{\Delta}K_1)^*e_n)$$
$$= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||(P_{\Delta}K_1)^*e_n||^2 < \infty.$$

Hence $(P_{\Delta}K_1)^*$ is a Hilbert-Schmidt operator, and so $P_{\Delta}K_1$ is a Hilbert-Schmidt operator. This implies that $P_{\Delta}K_1$ is an integral operator, whose integral kernel $\mathcal{N}(P_{\Delta}K_1)$ belongs to $L^2(X^2, \sigma^{\otimes 2})$. Clearly, for any $\Delta_1, \Delta_2 \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$ such that $\Delta_1 \subset \Delta_2$, $P_{\Delta_1}K_1 = P_{\Delta_1}(P_{\Delta_2}K_1)$. Therefore, for each $f \in L^2(X, \sigma)$

$$(P_{\Delta_1}K_1f)(x) = (P_{\Delta_1}(P_{\Delta_2}K_1)f)(x)$$

= $\chi_{\Delta_1}(x) \int_X \mathcal{N}(P_{\Delta_2}K_1)(x,y)f(y)\sigma(dy)$
= $\int_X \chi_{\Delta_1}(x)\mathcal{N}(P_{\Delta_2}K_1)(x,y)f(y)\sigma(dy).$

Hence,

$$\mathcal{N}(P_{\Delta_1}K_1)(x,y) = \chi_{\Delta_1}(x)\mathcal{N}(P_{\Delta_2}K_1)(x,y).$$
(3.4)

We now define a function $\mathcal{K}_1(x, y) := \mathcal{N}(P_\Delta K_1)(x, y)$, where $\Delta \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$ is such that $x \in \Delta$. In view of (3.4), the definition of \mathcal{K}_1 is independent of the choice of a set $\Delta \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$. Hence, for any $x \in X$,

$$(K_1f)(x) = \int_X \mathcal{K}_1(x,y)f(y)\sigma(dy),$$

so that K_1 is an integral operator and $\mathcal{N}(K_1)(x, y) = \mathcal{K}_1(x, y)$. Furthermore, we have for each $\Delta \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$,

$$\int_{\Delta} \int_{X} \mathcal{K}_{1}(x, y)^{2} \sigma(dx) \sigma(dy) < \infty.$$
(3.5)

In particular,

$$\mathcal{K}_1(x,\cdot) \in L^2(X,\sigma) \text{ for } \sigma\text{-a.a. } x \in X.$$
 (3.6)

Since $K = K_1 K_1$, K is an integral operator whose kernel is given by

$$\mathcal{K}(x,y) := \mathcal{N}(K)(x,y) = \int_X \mathcal{K}_1(x,z)\mathcal{K}_1(z,y)\sigma(dz)$$

$$= \int_{X} \mathcal{K}_{1}(x, z) \mathcal{K}_{1}(y, z) \sigma(dz)$$
$$= \left(\mathcal{K}_{1}(x, \cdot), \mathcal{K}_{1}(y, \cdot)\right)_{L^{2}(X, \sigma)}.$$
(3.7)

By (3.7), for any $\Delta \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$, we get

$$\int_{\Delta} \mathcal{K}(x,x)\sigma(dx) = \int_{\Delta} \left(\int_{X} \mathcal{K}_{1}(x,y)\mathcal{K}_{1}(x,y)\sigma(dy) \right) \sigma(dx)$$
$$= \int_{\Delta \times X} \mathcal{K}_{1}(x,y)^{2}\sigma(dx)\sigma(dy) < \infty.$$
(3.8)

Note that the kernel $\mathcal{K}_1(x, y)$ is defined up to a set of $\sigma^{\otimes 2}$ -measure 0 in X^2 , but the value $\int_{\Delta} \mathcal{K}(x, x) \sigma(dx)$ is independent of the choice of $\mathcal{K}_1(x, y)$.

3.1.4 Gaussian random fields

Our next aim is to construct a probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}, \mathbb{P})$ and a Gaussian random field $(\mathfrak{X}(x))_{x \in X}$ on it with zero mean and the covariance $\mathcal{K}(x, y)$ as in subsection 3.1.3. To this end, we will need the notion of a Gaussian white noise measure.

First, let us briefly recall the notion of a space with negative norm, see e.g. [7]. Let H_0 be a real Hilbert space with scalar product $(\cdot, \cdot)_{H_0}$ and norm $\|\cdot\|_{H_0}$, and we suppose that

$$H_+ \subseteq H_0,$$

where H_+ is a dense subset of H_0 . We suppose that H_+ is a Hilbert space with respect to another scalar product $(\cdot, \cdot)_{H_+}$ and that the norm $\|\cdot\|_{H_+}$ in H_+ is such that

$$\|\cdot\|_{H_0} \le \|\cdot\|_{H_+}.\tag{3.9}$$

Each element $f\in H_0$ generates a linear continuous functional $\langle f,\cdot\rangle$ on H_+ by the formula

$$\langle f, u \rangle := (f, u)_{H_0}, \quad u \in H_+$$
(3.10)

We introduce a new norm on H_0 , denoted by $\|\cdot\|_{H_-}$, by taking the norm of f as the norm of the functional $\langle f, \cdot \rangle$:

$$||f||_{H_{-}} := \sup\left\{\frac{|(f, u)_{H_{0}}|}{||u||_{H_{+}}} \mid u \in H_{+}, \ u \neq 0\right\}.$$
(3.11)

Now we complete H_0 in the norm (3.11) and obtain a Banach space H_- , which is called the space with negative norm. Thus we have constructed the chain

$$H_+ \subseteq H_0 \subseteq H_- \tag{3.12}$$

of spaces with positive, zero and negative norms. One also says that (3.12) is a rigging of the Hilbert space H_0 by spaces H_+ and H_- .

Each element $\alpha \in H_{-}$ is clearly a linear continuous functional on H_{+} , so that

$$H_{-} \subseteq (H_{+})', \tag{3.13}$$

where $(H_+)'$ denotes the dual space of H_+ . We will write $(\alpha, u)_{H_0}$ or $\langle \alpha, u \rangle$ for the action of the functional α on an element $u \in H_+$. It is obvious that

$$|(\alpha, u)_{H_0}| \le \|\alpha\|_{H_-} \|u\|_{H_+}, \quad \alpha \in H_-, \ u \in H_+, \tag{3.14}$$

which is a generalization of the Cauchy inequality.

In fact, H_- is a Hilbert space. That is, one can introduce a scalar product $(\cdot, \cdot)_{H_-}$ on H_- so that H_- is a Hilbert space and the norm $\|\cdot\|_{H_-}$ is given through $(\cdot, \cdot)_{H_-}$, i.e., $\|\alpha\|_{H_-} = \sqrt{(\alpha, \alpha)_{H_-}}$, $\alpha \in H_-$. One can show that $H_- = (H_+)'$, i.e, H_- can be thought of as the dual space of H_+ . This means that any linear continuous functional $l \in (H_+)'$ is of the form $l(u) = (\alpha, u)_{H_0}$, $u \in H_+$, for some $\alpha \in H_-$.

A rigging $H_+ \subseteq H_0 \subseteq H_-$ is called quasi-nuclear if the inclusion operator $O: H_+ \to H_0$ is a quasi-nuclear (i.e., Hilbert-Schmidt) operator:

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|Oe_n\|_{H_0}^2 < \infty,$$

where $(e_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is an orthonormal basis of H_+ . In fact, the inclusion operator $O: H_+ \to H_0$ is quasi-nuclear if and only of the inclusion operator $O': H_0 \to H_-$ is quasi-nuclear.

Let us consider an example of a chain of Hilbert spaces. For any $\tau = (\tau_k)_{k=1}^{\infty}$, $\tau_k > 0$, we define

$$\ell_2(\tau) := \left\{ (f_k)_{k=1}^\infty \in \mathbb{R}^\mathbb{N} \mid \sum_{k=1}^\infty f_k^2 \tau_k < \infty \right\}$$
(3.15)

and for any $f = (f_k)_{k=1}^{\infty}, g = (g_k)_{k=1}^{\infty} \in \ell_2(\tau)$ we define

$$(f,g)_{\ell_2(\tau)} := \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} f_k g_k \tau_k.$$
 (3.16)

Then $\ell_2(\tau)$ is a Hilbert space.

Suppose that $\tau_k \geq 1$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Then evidently $\ell_2(\tau) \subset \ell_2$ and $\|\cdot\|_{\ell_2} \leq \|\cdot\|_{\ell_2(\tau)}$. Denote by $\ell_{2,0}$ all finite sequences

$$(f_1, f_2, \ldots, f_N, 0, 0, \ldots),$$

where $f_1, \ldots, f_N \in \mathbb{R}$, $N \in \mathbb{N}$. Clearly, $\ell_{2,0} \subset \ell_2(\tau)$ and $\ell_{2,0}$ is dense in ℓ_2 . Therefore, $\ell_2(\tau)$ is dense in ℓ_2 . Furthermore, by the definition of $\ell_2(\tau)$, for each $f \in \ell_2(\tau)$, $||f||_{\ell_2} \leq ||f||_{\ell_2(\tau)}$. Therefore, we may set $H_0 = \ell_2$ and $H_+ = \ell_2(\tau)$. It can be shown that

$$H_{-} = \ell_2(\tau^{-1}), \quad \tau^{-1} := (\tau_k^{-1})_{k=1}^{\infty}$$

Thus, we get the chain

$$\ell_2(\tau) \subset \ell_2 \subset \ell_2(\tau^{-1})$$

Furthermore, the inclusion $\ell_2(\tau) \subseteq \ell_2$ is quasi-nuclear if and only if

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\tau_k} < \infty. \tag{3.17}$$

For example, one can choose $\tau_k = k^2$ in order to get the quasi-nuclear embedding of $\ell_2(\tau)$ into ℓ_2 .

Let now H_0 be a separable Hilbert space. Thus, H_0 has an orthonormal basis $(e_n)_{n=1}^{\infty}$. We define a unitary operator

$$I: H_0 \rightarrow \ell_2$$

by setting for every $f = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} f_k e_k \in H_0$, $If := (f_1, f_2, f_3, \cdots) \in \ell_2$.

Then, we fix a sequence τ as above and define a Hilbert space $H_+ = I^{-1}\ell_2(\tau)$ with scalar product $(u, v)_{H_+} = (Iu, Iv)_{\ell_2(\tau)}, u, v \in H_+$. Thus, for any $f = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} f_k e_k, g = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} g_k e_k$ from H_+ , we have

$$(f,g)_{H_+} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} f_k g_k \tau_k$$

Then, H_+ is densely and continuous embedded into H_0 , and in fact I may be extended by continuity to a unitary operator $I: H_- \to \ell_2(\tau^{-1})$. Thus, we get a rigging $H_+ \subset H_0 \subset H_-$ and it is quasi-nuclear if and only if condition (3.17) is satisfied.

Let now $H_+ \subset H_0 \subset H_-$ be a quasi-nuclear rigging. We denote by $\mathscr{C}(H_-)$ the cylinder σ -algebra on H_- , i.e., the minimal σ -algebra on H_- which contains all cylinder sets of the form

$$C(f_1,\ldots,f_n,A) = \{\omega \in H_- : (\langle \omega, f_1 \rangle, \cdots, \langle \omega, f_n \rangle) \in A\}$$

for some $f_1, \ldots, f_n \in H_+$ and $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. The following theorem is an infinite dimensional generalization of the classical Bochner theorem on the Fourier transform of a probability measure.

Theorem 3.1 (Minlos). Let $H_+ \subset H_0 \subset H_-$ be a quasi-nuclear rigging. Suppose $F : H_+ \to \mathbb{C}$. Then F is the Fourier transform of a unique probability

measure \mathbb{P} on $(H_-, \mathscr{C}_{\sigma}(H_-))$, i.e.

$$F(f) = \int_{H_{-}} e^{i\langle\omega,f\rangle} d\mathbb{P}(\omega), \quad f \in H_{+},$$
(3.18)

if and only if

- F(0) = 1,
- F is positive definite, i.e., for all c₁,..., c_n ∈ C, n ∈ N, f₁,..., f_n ∈ H₊:

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} c_i \overline{c_j} F(f_i - f_j) \ge 0,$$

• F is continuous on H_+ .

Let again $H_+ \subset H_0 \subset H_-$ be a quasi-nuclear rigging and we define

$$F(f) = \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}||f||_{H_0}^2\right), \quad f \in H_+.$$

One can easily verify that the function $F: H_+ \to \mathbb{C}$ satisfies the conditions of the Minlos theorem. Therefore, there exist a unique probability measure \mathbb{P} on $(H_-, \mathscr{C}_{\sigma}(H_-))$ such that

$$\int_{H_{-}} e^{i\langle\omega,f\rangle} d\mathbb{P}(\omega) = \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2} \|f\|_{H_0}^2\right), \quad f \in H_+.$$
(3.19)

Let us fix any $f \in H_+$. Then for each $a \in \mathbb{R}$

$$\int_{H_{-}} e^{ia\langle\omega,f\rangle} d\mathbb{P}(\omega) = \int_{H_{-}} e^{i\langle\omega,af\rangle} d\mathbb{P}(\omega)$$
$$= \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}a^{2} \|f\|_{H_{0}}^{2}\right)$$

Therefore, under \mathbb{P} the random variable $\langle \cdot, f \rangle$ has Gaussian distribution with mean 0 and variance $||f||^2_{H_0}$. Hence, for each $f \in H_+$, we have $\int_{H_-} \langle \omega, f \rangle^2 \mathbb{P}(d\omega) = ||f||^2_{H_0}$.

Therefore, the linear operator $I : H_+ \to L^2(H_-, d\mathbb{P})$ given by $(If)(\omega) = \langle \omega, f \rangle, \ \omega \in H_-$, may be extended by continuity to an isometric operator $I : H_0 \to L^2(H_-, d\mathbb{P}).$

Now for each $f \in H_0$, we denote by $\langle \omega, f \rangle$ the random variable on $H_$ which is the image of f under I, i.e., $\langle \omega, f \rangle := (If)(\omega)$. It can be easily checked that formula (3.19) remains true for each $f \in H_0$. Thus, we get a family $(\langle \omega, f \rangle)_{f \in H_0}$ of random variables, i.e., a random field, such that each $\langle \omega, f \rangle$ is a Gaussian random variable with mean 0, i.e.,

$$\int_{H_-} \langle \omega, f \rangle d\mathbb{P}(\omega) = 0$$

and

$$\operatorname{Cov}(\langle \omega, f \rangle, \langle \omega, g \rangle) = \int_{H_{-}} \langle \omega, f \rangle, \langle \omega, g \rangle d\mathbb{P}(\omega)$$
$$= (f, g)_{H_{0}}.$$

The probability measure \mathbb{P} is called the Gaussian white noise measure.

As a conclusion, we may state that, for any separable Hilbert space H_0 there exist a probability space (Ω, \mathcal{A}, P) and a family $(Y(f))_{f \in H_0}$ of random variables on it such that each Y(f) is Gaussian random variable with mean 0 and $\mathbb{E}(Y(f)Y(g)) = (f,g)_{H_0}$.

Indeed we only need to construct a quasi-nuclear rigging of $H_0: H_+ \subset$ $H_0 \subset H_-$, then we define the Gaussian white noise measure μ on H_- , and then set $Y(f) = \langle \cdot, f \rangle, f \in H_0$.

Theorem 3.2. There exists a random field $(Y(x))_{x \in X}$ on a probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}, \mathbb{P})$ such that the mapping

$$X \times \Omega \ni (x, \omega) \mapsto Y(x, \omega) \tag{3.20}$$

is measurable, and for σ -a.a. $x \in X$, Y(x) is a Gaussian random variable with mean 0 and such that

$$\mathbb{E}(Y(x)^2) = \mathcal{K}(x, x) \quad \text{for } \sigma\text{-a.a. } x \in X,$$

$$\mathbb{E}(Y(x)Y(y)) = \mathcal{K}(x, y) \quad \text{for } \sigma^{\otimes 2}\text{-a.a. } (x, y) \in X^2.$$
(3.21)

Remark 3.1. The statement of Theorem 3.2 is well-known if the integral kernel of the operator K admits a continuous version (see e.g. Theorem 1.8 and p. 456 in [44]). In the latter case, $(Y(x))_{x \in X}$ is a Gaussian random field and formula (3.21) holds for all $(x, y) \in X^2$.

Proof of Theorem 3.2. Consider a standard triple of real Hilbert spaces

$$H_+ \subset H_0 = L^2(X, \sigma) \subset H_-$$

Here the Hilbert space H_+ is densely and continuously embedded into H_0 , the inclusion operator $H_+ \hookrightarrow H_0$ is of Hilbert–Schmidt class, and the Hilbert space H_- is the dual space of H_+ with respect to the center space H_0 .

Let \mathbb{P} be the standard Gaussian measure on H_{-} , i.e., the probability measure on the cylinder σ -algebra $\mathscr{C}(H_{-})$ which has Fourier transform

$$\int_{H_{-}} e^{i\langle\omega,f\rangle} \mathbb{P}(d\omega) = \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2} \|f\|_{H_0}^2\right], \quad f \in H_+.$$

By (3.6), we set for σ -a.a. $x \in X$, $\tilde{Y}(x,\omega) := \langle \omega, \mathcal{K}_1(x,\cdot) \rangle$, where $\mathcal{K}(x,\cdot)$ denotes the function of y given by $\|(x,y)$ for a fixed x. Hence $\tilde{Y}(x)$ is a Gaussian random variable and by (3.7), (3.21) holds.

Hence, it remains to prove that there exists a random field $Y = (Y(x))_{x \in X}$ for which the mapping (3.20) is measurable and such that $Y(x, \omega) = \widetilde{Y}(x, \omega)$ for $\sigma \otimes \mathbb{P}$ -a.a. (x, ω) . To this end, we fix any $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$ and denote by $\mathcal{B}(\Lambda)$ the trace σ -algebra of $\mathcal{B}(X)$ on Λ . We define a set \mathcal{D}_{Λ} of the functions $u : \Lambda \times X \to \mathbb{R}$ of the form

$$u(x,y) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \chi_{\Delta_i}(x) f_i(y), \qquad (3.22)$$

where $\Delta_i \in \mathcal{B}(\Lambda), f_i \in H_+, i = 1, ..., n$. Define a linear mapping

$$I_{\Lambda}: \mathcal{D}_{\Lambda} \to L^{2}(\Lambda \times H_{-}, \sigma \otimes \mathbb{P})$$
(3.23)

by setting, for each $u \in \mathcal{D}_{\Lambda}$ of the form (3.22),

$$(I_{\Lambda}u)(x,\omega) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \chi_{\Delta_i}(x) \langle \omega, f_i \rangle, \quad (x,\omega) \in \Lambda \times H_-$$

Clearly, I_{Λ} can be extended to an isometry

$$I_{\Lambda}: L^{2}(\Lambda \times X, \sigma^{\otimes 2}) \to L^{2}(\Lambda \times H_{-}, \sigma \otimes \mathbb{P}),$$

and we have $I_{\Lambda} = \mathbf{1}_{\Lambda} \otimes I$, where $\mathbf{1}_{\Lambda}$ is the identity operator in $L^{2}(\Lambda, \sigma)$ and the operator I is as above.

Fix any $u \in L^2(\Lambda \times X, \sigma^{\otimes 2})$. As easily seen, there exist a sequence $(u_n)_{n=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathcal{D}_{\Lambda}$ such that $u_n \to u$ in $L^2(\Lambda \times X, \sigma^{\otimes 2})$ and for σ -a.a. $x \in \Lambda$, $u_n(x, \cdot) \to u(x, \cdot)$ in $L^2(X, \sigma)$ Hence, for σ -a.a. $x \in \Lambda$, $I_{\Lambda}u_n(x, \cdot) \to I_{\Lambda}u(x, \cdot)$ in $L^2(H_-, \mathbb{P})$, which implies:

$$(I_{\Lambda}u)(x,\omega) = \langle \omega, u(x,\cdot) \rangle$$
 for \mathbb{P} -a.a. $\omega \in H_{-}$. (3.24)

Now, denote by \mathcal{K}_1^{Λ} the restriction of \mathcal{K}_1 to the set $\Lambda \times X$. For σ -a.a. $x \in \Lambda$, we define $Y_{\Lambda}(x) := (I_{\Lambda}\mathcal{K}_1^{\Lambda})(x, \cdot)$. Hence, by (3.24), for σ -a.a. $x \in \Lambda$, $Y_{\Lambda}(x) = \widetilde{Y}(x)$ P-a.e. Finally, let $(\Lambda_n)_{n=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathcal{B}_0(X)$ be such that $\Lambda_n \cap \Lambda_m = \emptyset$ if $n \neq m$ and $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \Lambda_n = X$. Setting $Y(x) := Y_{\Lambda_n}(x)$ for σ -a.a. $x \in \Lambda_n, n \in \mathbb{N}$, we conclude the statement. Evidently, the definition of Y(x) is independent of the choice of the sets $Lambda_n$.

3.1.5 Moments of Gaussian white noise measure

In this section, we will present the classical result about the moments of Gaussian white noise measure. Our presentation is based on [7] and we will give a much more detailed proof of the moments theorem. Let again $H_+ \subset H_0 \subset H_-$ be a quasi-nuclear rigging of a real separable Hilbert space H_0 and let \mathbb{P} be the Gaussian white noise measure on H_- . Recall that, for each $f \in H_0$ we defined a random variable $\langle \omega, f \rangle$ from $L^2(H_-, d\mathbb{P})$.

For each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, the *n*-th moment of \mathbb{P} is defined by

$$C_n(f_1,\ldots,f_n) := \int_{H_-} \langle \omega, f_1 \rangle \cdots \langle \omega, f_n \rangle \mathbb{P}(d\omega), \quad f_1,\ldots,f_n \in H_0 \quad (3.25)$$

(Later on we will see that the integral indeed exists)

Theorem 3.3. (Moments of Gaussian white noise measure) We have

$$C_{2n+1}(f_1,\ldots,f_{2n+1}) = 0 \tag{3.26}$$

$$C_{2n}(f_1,\ldots,f_{2n}) = \sum (f_{k_1},f_{l_1})_{H_0}\cdots (f_{k_n},f_{l_n})_{H_0}, \qquad (3.27)$$

where $f_1, \ldots, f_{2n+1} \in H_0$ and the summation in (3.27) is over all possible $\frac{(2n)!}{2^n n!}$ pairing of the numbers $1, 2, \ldots, 2n$, i.e., all possible partition of $1, 2, \ldots, 2n$ into n pairs $\{k_1, l_1\}, \cdots, \{k_n, l_n\}$

Proof. We first consider the special case where $f_1 = f_2 = \ldots = f_n = f \in H_0$. Then,

$$\begin{split} \int_{H_{-}} \langle \omega, f \rangle^{n} \mathbb{P}(d\omega) &= i^{-n} \left(\frac{d}{dt}\right)^{n} \big|_{t=0} \int_{H_{-}} e^{it \langle \omega, f \rangle} \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \\ &= i^{-n} \left(\frac{d}{dt}\right)^{n} \big|_{t=0} \int_{H_{-}} e^{i \langle \omega, tf \rangle} \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \\ &= i^{-n} \left(\frac{d}{dt}\right)^{n} \big|_{t=0} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}t^{2} \|f\|_{H_{0}}^{2}\right) \end{split}$$

For a smooth function $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$, we have the following well-known formula

$$\frac{d^{n}}{dt^{n}}e^{f(t)} = \sum_{\substack{m_{1},\dots,m_{k}\in\mathbb{Z}_{+}\\m_{1}+2m_{2}+\dots+km_{k}=n}} \frac{n!(f^{(1)}(t))^{m_{1}}(f^{(2)}(t))^{m_{2}}\dots(f^{(n)}(t))^{m_{k}}}{m_{1}!(2!)^{m_{2}}m_{2}!\dots(k!)^{m_{k}}m_{k}!}e^{f(t)}.$$
(3.28)

Setting

$$f(t) = -\frac{1}{2}t^2 ||f||_{H_0}^2, \qquad (3.29)$$

we have

$$f'(t) = -t \|f\|_{H_0}^2,$$

$$f''(t) = -\|f\|_{H_0}^2, \qquad f^{(n)}(t) = 0, \ n \ge 3.$$

Hence,

$$f''(0) = - \|f\|_{H_0}^2$$
$$f^{(n)}(0) = 0 \quad if \quad n > 2$$

Thus, now (3.28) reduces to

$$\frac{d^n}{dt^n}e^{f(t)}|_{t=0} = \sum_{m_2 \in \mathbb{Z}_+: \ 2m_2 = n} \frac{n!(-\|f\|_{H_0}^2)^{m_2}}{(2!)^{m_2}m_2!}.$$

Therefore, it follows that

$$C_{2n+1}(f,\ldots,f) = 0, \ C_{2n}(f,\ldots,f) = \frac{(2n)!}{2^n n!} \|f\|_{H_0}^{2n}$$

Let $B: H_0^n \to \mathbb{R}$ be an *n*-linear mapping, that is, for any $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and any fixed $f_1, \ldots, f_{i-1}, f_{i+1}, \ldots, f_n$, the mapping

$$B(f_1,\ldots,f_{i-1},\cdot,f_{i+1},\ldots,f_n):H_0\to\mathbb{R}$$

is linear. For each $f \in H_0$, we denote $\widetilde{B}(f) := B(f, \ldots, f)$. Then the following polarization identity holds (see e.g. [5]). For any $f_1, \ldots, f_n \in H_0$,

$$B(f_1, \dots, f_n) = \frac{1}{n!} \sum_{p=1}^n (-1)^{n-p} \sum_{1 \le k_1 < k_2 < \dots < k_p \le n} \widetilde{B}(f_{k_1} + f_{k_2} + \dots + f_{k_p})$$

Thus, the *n*-linear mapping B is completely identified by \tilde{B} .

Now for any $f_1, \ldots, f_n \in H_0$, by Hölder's inequality

$$\begin{split} &\int_{H_{-}} |\langle \omega, f_{1} \rangle \cdots \langle \omega, f_{n} \rangle |\mathbb{P}(d\omega) \\ &\leq \left(\int_{H_{-}} |\langle \omega, f_{1} \rangle|^{n} \mu(d\omega) \cdots \int_{H_{-}} |\langle \omega, f_{n} \rangle|^{n} \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \right)^{\frac{1}{n}} \\ &\leq \left(\int_{H_{-}} |\langle \omega, f_{1} \rangle|^{2n} \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \cdots \int_{H_{-}} |\langle \omega, f_{n} \rangle|^{2n} \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \right)^{\frac{1}{2n}}. \end{split}$$

Thus, the moments of Gaussian white noise measure are well defined. We note that, for each $n \in N$ the mapping $H_0^n \ni (f_1, \ldots, f_n) \to C_n(f_1, \ldots, f_n) \in \mathbb{R}$ is *n*-linear. On the other hand, the right hand sides of (3.26) and (3.27) are also (2n + 1)-linear and (2n)-linear mappings, respectively. Therefore, the theorem holds in the general case.

3.2 Permanental point processes

In this section we will discuss a class of Cox point processes which are called permanental (or boson-like). The kernel $\mathcal{K}(x, y)$ from subsection 3.1.3 will play the role of a correlation kernel (to be explained below). Compared with the available literature (see [10, 44]), in our presentation of these processes we will not assume that the correlation kernel is continuous.

Following [45, 44], we introduce the notion of α -permanent, also called α -determinant. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ be fixed. For a square matrix $A = (a_{ij})_{i,j=1}^n$, we define its α -permanent as follows:

$$\operatorname{per}_{\alpha} A = \sum_{\xi \in S_n} \alpha^{n-n(\xi)} \prod_{i=1}^n a_{i\xi(i)}.$$
(3.30)

Here S_n denotes the group of all permutations of $\{1, 2, ..., n\}$, and for $\xi \in S_n$ $n(\xi)$ denotes the number of cycles in ξ . In particular, for $\alpha = -1$,

$$\operatorname{per}_{-1} A = \sum_{\xi \in S_n} (-1)^{n-n(\xi)} \prod_{i=1}^n a_{i\xi(i)},$$

so that $per_{-1}A$ is the usual determinant of A. For $\alpha = 1$,

$$\operatorname{per}_1 A = \sum_{\xi \in S_n} \prod_{i=1}^n a_{i\xi(i)},$$

so that $per_1(A)$ is the usual permanent of A.

Let the operator K acting in $L^2(X, \sigma)$ be as in subsec. 3.1.3. Let the kernel $\mathcal{K}(x, y)$ of K be also chosen as in subsection 3.1.3. Let a random field $(Y(x))_{x \in X}$ be as in Theorem 3.2.

Proposition 3.1. For each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left(Y^2(x_1)\cdots Y^2(x_n)\right) = \operatorname{per}_2\left(\mathcal{K}(x_i, x_j)\right)_{i,j=1}^n, \quad (x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in X^n.$$

Proof. By the definition of α -permanent, we have:

$$\operatorname{per}_{2} \left(\mathcal{K}(x_{i}, x_{j}) \right)_{i,j=1}^{n} = \sum_{\xi \in S_{n}} 2^{n-n(\xi)} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathcal{K}(x_{i}, x_{\xi(i)}).$$

Note that a permutation ξ can be identified with the sequence of corresponding cycles

$$\xi = \{ (k_1, k_2, \dots, k_{m_1}), (k_{m_1+1}, \dots, k_{m_1+m_2}), \dots, (k_{m_1+m_2+\dots+m_{n(\xi)-1}+1}, \dots, k_n) \}.$$
(3.31)

Here, $\xi(k_1) = k_2$, $\xi(k_2) = k_3, \ldots, \xi(k_{m_1-1}) = k_{m_1}$, $\xi(k_{m_1}) = k_1$, and analogously for the other cycles. Without loss of generality, we may assume that

$$k_{1} = 1,$$

$$k_{m_{1}+1} = \min\{k_{m_{1}+1}, k_{m_{1}+2}, \dots, k_{m_{1}+m_{2}}\},$$

$$\vdots$$

$$k_{m_{1}+m_{2}+\dots+m_{n(\xi)-1}+1} = \min\{k_{m_{1}+m_{2}+\dots+m_{n(\xi)-1}+1}, \dots, k_{n}\}$$

 and

$$k_1 < k_{m_1+1} < k_{m_1+m_2+1} < \cdots < k_{m_1+m_2+\dots+m_{n(\xi)-1}+1}.$$

In (3.31), the first cycle contains m_1 elements, the second cycle contains m_2 elements, etc. Hence,

$$2^{n-n(\xi)} = 2^{m_1-1} \cdot 2^{m_2-1} \cdots 2^{m_{n(\xi)}-1}.$$
(3.32)

Next, let us write down the product $Y^2(x_1) \cdots Y^2(x_n)$ as

$$Y(x_1)\cdots Y(x_n) \mid Y(x_1)\cdots Y(x_n) \tag{3.33}$$

with imaginary bar in the middle, which divides the product into the left and right hand side parts. Consider a collection of pairings of (3.33) which connect elements on the left with elements on the right. Let us call such a collection of pairings a *standard collection*. For example,



Then, every standard collection identifies a permutation ξ which maps the number of every variable on the left to the number of the variable on the right which is paired with the left one. For example, the pairings in the above formula identify the permutation

$$\xi = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 \\ 2 & 4 & 3 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

For every standard collection of pairings, the corresponding term in the expectation of $Y^2(x_1) \cdots Y^2(x_n)$ is clearly $\prod_{i=1}^n \mathcal{K}(x_i, x_{\sigma(i)})$, see Theorem 3.3. However, a general collection of pairings of (3.33) should not necessarily be standard. We will now describe a procedure of the change of a collection of pairings such that the resulting collection will always be a standard collection.

Let us first consider a simple example:



which identifies the expression

$$\mathcal{K}(x_1, x_3)\mathcal{K}(x_2, x_1)\mathcal{K}(x_2, x_3)$$

in the expectation. We start with the left x_1 . It is paired with the left x_3 . So, instead of this pairing we will take the pairing which connects the left x_1 with the right x_3 , which gives us $\xi(1) = 3$, while the x_3 which was on the right is moved to the left. Next, the left x_3 is paired with the right x_2 , which requires no changes and gives us $\xi(3) = 2$. Finally, the left x_2 is connected to the right x_1 , which again requires no changes and gives us $\xi(2) = 1$. Thus, the required standard collection is



It is easily seen that this procedure can be carried out in the general case. Just start with the left x_1 and look at the pairing. If it connects x_1 with a right element $x_{\xi(1)}$, then leave it without changes, otherwise swap the left and right $x_{\xi(1)}$. Next take $x_{\xi(1)}$ on the left and look at the pairing. If it connects $x_{\xi(1)}$ with $x_{\xi(\xi(1))}$ on the right, then leave it without changes, otherwise swap $x_{\xi^2(1)}$ on the left and on the right, etc, until we close the cycle $(1 = k_1, k_2, \ldots, k_{m_1})$. Then we start with the left variable which has number $\min(\{1, 2, \ldots, n\} \setminus \{k_1, k_2, \ldots, k_{m_1}\})$ and continue this procedure until we close the second cycle $(k_{m_1+1}, k_{m_1+2}, \ldots, k_{m_1+m_2})$. Next we start with the left variable which has number

 $\min(\{1, 2, \ldots, n\} \setminus \{k_1, k_2, \ldots, k_{m_1}, k_{m_1+1}, \ldots, k_{m_1+m_2}\})$

and continue as before.

Finally we have to calculate how many collections of pairings lead to the same standard collection which identifies a permutation ξ as in (3.31). It is evident that we need to calculate the number of collections of pairings which identify each separable cycle and then multiply these numbers. Let us look at the number of the pairings which identify the cycle $(1 = k_1, k_2, \ldots, k_{m_1})$. So, we start with the left $x_1 = x_{k_1}$ and then we have two possibilities: either x_{k_2} is on the left or it is on the right. After modification of the first pairing, if it is necessary, we look at the left x_{k_2} and again have two possibilities: either x_{k_3} is on the right or it is on the left. Again, if necessary, we modify the pairing and look at the left x_{k_3} and so on. Thus, the total number of possibilities is 2^{m_1-1} . Hence, the total number of different collections of pairings is $2^{m_1-1}2^{m_2-1}\cdots 2^{m_n(\xi)^{-1}}$. Comparing this with (3.32) we conclude the proposition.

Next, let us fix $l \in \mathbb{N}$ and let us take l independent copies of the random

field $(Y(x))_{x \in X}$ as above. We call these copies $(Y_i(x))_{x \in X}$, i = 1, 2, ..., l. We define a new random field

$$g(x) = Y_1^2(x) + Y_2^2(x) + \ldots + Y_l^2(x), \quad x \in X.$$
(3.34)

The following theorem generalizes Proposition 3.1.

Theorem 3.4. For each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left(g(x_1)\cdots g(x_n)\right) = \operatorname{per}_{\frac{2}{l}}\left[l\mathcal{K}(x_i, x_j)\right]_{i,j=1}^n, \quad (x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in X^n.$$

Proof. We have

$$per_{\frac{2}{l}} (l\mathcal{K}(x_{i}, x_{j}))_{i,j=1}^{n}$$

$$= \sum_{\xi \in S_{n}} \left(\frac{2}{l}\right)^{n-n(\xi)} l^{n} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathcal{K}(x_{i}, x_{\xi(i)})$$

$$= \sum_{\xi \in S_{n}} 2^{n-n(\xi)} l^{n(\xi)} \prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathcal{K}(x_{i}, x_{\xi(i)}). \qquad (3.35)$$

Now, by the definition of g(x)

$$\mathbb{E} \left(g(x_1) \cdots g(x_n) \right) \\
= \mathbb{E} \left(\sum_{i_1=1}^l \sum_{i_2=1}^l \cdots \sum_{i_n=1}^l Y_{i_1}^2(x_1) Y_{i_2}^2(x_2) \cdots Y_{i_n}^2(x_n) \right) \\
= \mathbb{E} \left(\sum_{(\eta_1, \eta_2, \dots, \eta_l) \in P_l(\{1, 2, \dots, n\})} \left(\prod_{i_1 \in \eta_1} Y_1^2(x_{i_1}) \right) \left(\prod_{i_2 \in \eta_2} Y_2^2(x_{i_2}) \right) \cdots \left(\prod_{i_l \in \eta_l} Y_l^2(x_{i_l}) \right) \right), \quad (3.36)$$

where $P_l(\{1, 2, ..., n\})$ denotes the collection of all ordered partitions of $\{1, 2, ..., n\}$ into l parts, and $\prod_{i \in \emptyset} Y_k^2(x_i) := 1$. Hence, by (3.36),

$$\mathbb{E}(g(x_1)\cdots g(x_n)) = \sum_{(\eta_1,\eta_2,\dots,\eta_l)\in P_l(\{1,2,\dots,n\})} \mathbb{E}\left((\prod_{i_1\in\eta_1}Y_1^2(x_{i_1}))(\prod_{i_2\in\eta_2}Y_2^2(x_{i_2}))\cdots(\prod_{i_l\in\eta_l}Y_l^2(x_{i_l}))\right)$$

Since, the random field $(Y_1(x))_{x \in X}$, $(Y_2(x))_{x \in X}$, ..., $(Y_l(x))_{x \in X}$ are independent, we have get

$$\mathbb{E}(g(x_{1})\cdots g(x_{n})) = \sum_{(\eta_{1},\eta_{2},\dots,\eta_{l})\in P_{l}(\{1,2,\dots,n\})} \mathbb{E}(\prod_{i_{1}\in\eta_{1}}Y_{1}^{2}(x_{i_{1}}))\mathbb{E}(\prod_{i_{2}\in\eta_{2}}Y_{2}^{2}(x_{i_{2}}))$$
$$\cdots \mathbb{E}(\prod_{i_{l}\in\eta_{l}}Y_{l}^{2}(x_{i_{l}})).$$
(3.37)

For any subset $\eta = \{j_1, j_2, \dots, j_k\}$ of $\{1, 2, \dots, n\}$, we define

$$F(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n; \eta) := \operatorname{per}_2 \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{K}(x_{j_1}, x_{j_1}) & \mathcal{K}(x_{j_1}, x_{j_2}) & \cdots & \mathcal{K}(x_{j_1}, x_{j_k}) \\ \mathcal{K}(x_{j_2}, x_{j_1}) & \mathcal{K}(x_{j_2}, x_{j_2}) & \cdots & \mathcal{K}(x_{j_2}, x_{j_k}) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \mathcal{K}(x_{j_k}, x_{j_1}) & \mathcal{K}(x_{j_k}, x_{j_2}) & \cdots & \mathcal{K}(x_{j_k}, x_{j_k}) \end{pmatrix}$$

Then, by (3.37) and Proposition 3.1,

$$\mathbb{E} (g(x_1) \cdots g(x_n)) = \sum_{(\eta_1, \eta_2, \dots, \eta_l) \in P_l(\{1, 2, \dots, n\})} F(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n; \eta_1) F(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n; \eta_2) \cdots F(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n; \eta_l).$$

Fix any $(\eta_1, \eta_2, \ldots, \eta_l) \in P_l(\{1, 2, \ldots, n\})$. We note that any collection $\xi_1, \xi_2, \ldots, \xi_l$ of permutations of $\eta_1, \eta_2, \ldots, \eta_l$, respectively, yields a permutation ξ of $\{1, 2, \ldots, n\}$. Furthermore, by (3.32), we have

$$2^{n-n(\xi)} = 2^{|\eta_1|-n(\xi_1)} 2^{|\eta_2|-n(\xi_2)} \dots 2^{|\eta_l|-n(\xi_l)}$$

Hence, by (3.37),

$$\mathbb{E}(g(x_1)\cdots g(x_n)) = \sum_{\xi\in S_n} 2^{n-n(\xi)} N(l,\xi) \mathcal{K}(x_1, x_{\xi(1)}) \mathcal{K}(x_2, x_{\xi(2)}) \cdots \mathcal{K}(x_n, x_{\xi(n)})$$
(3.38)

Here $N(l,\xi)$ denotes the number of all possible collections of permutations $\xi_1, \xi_2, \ldots, \xi_l$ of some $(\eta_1, \eta_2, \ldots, \eta_l) \in P_l(\{1, 2, \ldots, n\})$ which yields the permutation ξ of $\{1, 2, \ldots, n\}$.

Let $\varphi_1, \varphi_2, \ldots, \varphi_{n(\xi)}$ be the cycles of a permutation $\xi \in S_n$. Then each cycles φ_i must be a cycle in one of the permutation $\xi_1, \xi_2, \ldots, \xi_l$ of $\eta_1, \eta_2, \ldots, \eta_l$, respectively, where $\eta_1, \eta_2, \ldots, \eta_l \in P_l(\{1, 2, \ldots, n\})$. Therefore, the number $N(l, \xi)$ is equal to the number of all ordered partitions of the set $\{1, 2, \ldots, n(\xi)\}$ into l parts. Hence,

$$N(l,\xi) = \sum_{\substack{(\eta_1,\eta_2,\dots,\eta_l) \in P_l(\{1,2,\dots,n(\xi)\})\\ = \sum_{\substack{k_1,k_2,\dots,k_l=0,1,\dots,n(\sigma\xi)\\ k_1+k_2+\dots+k_l=n(\sigma)}} \frac{n(\xi)!}{k_1!k_2!\cdots k_l!}$$

$$= \sum_{\substack{k_1,k_2,\dots,k_l=0,1,\dots,n(\xi)\\ k_1+k_2+\dots+k_l=n(\xi)}} \frac{n(\xi)!}{k_1!k_2!\cdots k_l!} 1^{k_1} 1^{k_2} \cdots^{k_l}$$

$$= (\underbrace{1+1+\dots+1}_{l \text{ times}})^{n(\xi)}$$

$$= l^{n(\xi)}$$

Therefore, by(3.38)

$$\mathbb{E}\left(g(x_1)\cdots g(x_n)\right) = \sum_{\xi\in S_n} 2^{n-n(\xi)} l^{n(\xi)} \mathcal{K}(x_1, x_{\xi(1)}) \mathcal{K}(x_2, x_{\xi(2)})\cdots \mathcal{K}(x_n, x_{\xi(n)})$$

Thus, by (3.35), the theorem is proved.

Thus, using the results of Section 2.5 and Theorem 3.4, we conclude

Theorem 3.5. Let the operator K acting in $L^2(X, \sigma)$ be as in subsec. 3.1.3, and let the kernel $\mathcal{K}(x, y)$ of K be also chosen as in subsection 3.1.3. Then, for each $l \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists a point process $\mu^{(l)}$ in X whose correlation functions are given by

$$k_{\mu^{(l)}}^{(n)}(x_1,\ldots,x_n) = \operatorname{per}_{\frac{l}{2}}(l\mathcal{K}(x_i,x_j))_{i,j=1}^n \quad \text{for } \sigma^{\otimes n}\text{-a.a.} \ (x_1,\ldots,x_n) \in X^n.$$
(3.39)

The $\mu^{(l)}$ satisfies condition (Σ'_{σ}) and its Papangelou intensity is given by

$$r^{(l)}(x,\gamma) = \widetilde{\mathbb{E}}\left(\sum_{i=1}^{l} |Y_i(x)|^2 \mid \mathcal{F}\right)(\gamma).$$
(3.40)

Chapter 4

Markov process and Dirichlet forms

In this chapter, we will briefly recall some definitions and theorems concerning unbounded linear operators, Markov processes, their generators, and construction of Markov processes through Dirichlet forms. For more details and proofs, see [6, 16, 33, 41, 42].

4.1 Unbounded linear operators and quadratic forms

Let H be a real, separable Hilbert space. Let $\mathcal{D}(A)$ be a linear subspace of H, i.e., $\mathcal{D}(A)$ is a subset of H and for any $a_1, a_2 \in \mathbb{R}$, $h_1, h_2 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, $a_1h_1 + a_2h_2 \in \mathcal{D}(A)$. A linear operator A in H with domain $\mathcal{D}(A)$ is a mapping $A : \mathcal{D}(A) \to H$ such that

$$A(a_1h_1 + a_2h_2) = a_1Ah_1 + a_2Ah_2, \quad h_1, h_2 \in \mathcal{D}(A), \quad a_1, a_2 \in \mathbb{R}$$

Thus, a linear operator A is characterized by its domain $\mathcal{D}(A)$ and by the action of A on $\mathcal{D}(A)$. We will write a linear operator as a pair $(A, \mathcal{D}(A))$ to stress the domain of A.

Define

$$\Gamma_A := \{ (f, Af) \mid f \in \mathcal{D}(A) \} \subset H \times H.$$

Then Γ_A is called the graph of the operator A. The operator A is called closed if Γ_A is a closed set in $H \times H$

If an operator $(A, \mathcal{D}(A))$ is not closed, we may take the closure of Γ_A in $H \times H$, denoted by $\tilde{\Gamma}_A$. However, this closure is not necessarily a graph of a linear operator. Indeed, the set $\tilde{\Gamma}_A$ may contain vectors of the form (f, g_1) and (f, g_2) with $g_1 \neq g_2$, so that $\tilde{\Gamma}_A$ is not a graph of a mapping. We say that a linear operator $(A, \mathcal{D}(A))$ is closable if $\tilde{\Gamma}_A$ is a graph of a mapping, i.e., there do not exist (f, g_1) and (f, g_2) in $\tilde{\Gamma}_A$ with $g_1 \neq g_2$. The linear operator $(\tilde{A}, \mathcal{D}(\tilde{A}))$ whose graph is $\tilde{\Gamma}_A$ is called the closure of $(A, \mathcal{D}(A))$. (Indeed, one may check that if $(A, \mathcal{D}(A))$ is closable, then the corresponding closure is a linear operator.)

If $\mathcal{D}(A)$ is a dense set in H, then we say that a linear operator $(A, \mathcal{D}(A))$ is densely defined.

Let $(A, \mathcal{D}(A))$ be a densely defined linear operator. Assume that a vector $g \in H$ is such that there exists $g^* \in H$ for which

$$(Af,g)_H = (f,g^*)$$
 for all $f \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, (4.1)

Then we say that $g \in \mathcal{D}(A^*)$ and define $A^*g := g^*$. (Since $\mathcal{D}(A)$ is dense in H, if g and g^* as above exist, then for each $g \in H$ there exists a unique $g^* \in H$ which satisfies (4.1).) $(A^*, \mathcal{D}(A^*))$ is a linear operator, and it is called the adjoint operator of $(A, \mathcal{D}(A))$. It might happen that $\mathcal{D}(A^*) = \{0\}$ and $A^*0 = 0$. A densely defined operator $(A, \mathcal{D}(A))$ is called symmetric if for any $f, g \in \mathcal{D}(A)$,

$$(Af,g) = (f,Ag).$$

Clearly, for such an operator, $\mathcal{D}(A) \subset \mathcal{D}(A^*)$ and $A^*f = Af$ for any $f \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, so that $(A^*, \mathcal{D}(A^*))$ is an extension of $(\mathcal{D}(A), A)$. An operator $(A, \mathcal{D}(A))$ is called self-adjoint if $(A^*, \mathcal{D}(A^*)) = (A, \mathcal{D}(A))$. A self-adjoint operator is a symmetric operator for which $\mathcal{D}(A) = \mathcal{D}(A^*)$. Every symmetric operator $(A, \mathcal{D}(A))$ is closable and its closure $(\tilde{A}, \mathcal{D}(\tilde{A}))$ is also a symmetric operator. A symmetric operator $(A, \mathcal{D}(A))$ is called essentially self-adjoint if its closure $(\tilde{A}, \mathcal{D}(\tilde{A}))$ is self-adjoint operator. In the latter case, the set $\mathcal{D}(A)$ is called a core or a domain of essential self-adjointness of $(\tilde{A}, \mathcal{D}(\tilde{A}))$.

An operator $(A, \mathcal{D}(A))$ is called non-negative if, for any $f \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, $(Af, f) \geq 0$. A non-negative operator is symmetric.

Now, let $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E})$ be a dense linear subspace of H. A mapping

$$\mathcal{E}: \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E}) \times \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E}) \to \mathbb{R}$$

is called a quadratic form if \mathcal{E} is linear in both argument. The set $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E})$ is called the domain of the quadratic form \mathcal{E} , and we will write $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E}))$ for this quadratic form. A quadratic form $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E}))$ is called symmetric if, for any $f, g \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E})$,

$$\mathcal{E}(f,g) = \mathcal{E}(g,f).$$

 $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E}))$ is called non-negative if $\mathcal{E}(f, f) \ge 0$ for any $f \in \mathcal{E}$. A non-negative quadratic form is symmetric.

A symmetric quadratic form $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E})$ is completely characterized by the values $\mathcal{E}(f, f), f \in \mathcal{E}$. Indeed, for any $f, g \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E})$,

$$\mathcal{E}(f,g) = rac{1}{4}(\mathcal{E}(f+g,f+g) - \mathcal{E}(f-g,f-g)).$$

Sometimes, for $f \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E})$, we will just write $\mathcal{E}(f)$ instead of $\mathcal{E}(f, f)$.

Assume that $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E}))$ is non-negative and define a scalar product on $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E})$ by

$$(f,g)_+ := (f,g) + \mathcal{E}(f,g)$$

A densely defined (i.e., $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E})$ being dense in H), non-negative quadratic form is called closed if $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E})$ is a Hilbert space with scalar product $(\cdot, \cdot)_+$, i.e., if $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E})$ is complete in the norm $\|\cdot\|_+$ generated by the scalar product $(\cdot, \cdot)_+$. A non-negative quadratic form $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E}))$ is called closable if for any sequence $\{f_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E})$ such that $f_n \to 0$ is H as $n \to \infty$, and $\mathcal{E}(f_n - f_m) \to 0$ as $n, m \to +\infty$, we have $\mathcal{E}(f_n, f_n) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$.

Assume that a non-negative quadratic form $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E}))$ is closable. Let $\{f_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E})$ be a Cauchy sequence with respect to the norm $\|\cdot\|_+$. Then $\{f_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ is a Cauchy sequence in H and let $f \in H$ be the limit of $\{f_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ in H. Let $\mathcal{D}(\tilde{\mathcal{E}})$ be the set of all such $f \in H$. Furthermore, for any $f, g \in \mathcal{D}(\tilde{\mathcal{E}})$, set

$$\tilde{\mathcal{E}}(f,g) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \mathcal{E}(f_n,g_n),$$

where $\{f_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E}), \{g_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E}) \text{ and } f_n \to f \text{ and } g_n \to g \text{ with respect}$ to the norm $\|\cdot\|_+$ as $n \to \infty$. The definition of a closable quadratic form ensures that the value $\tilde{\mathcal{E}}(f,g)$ is independent of the choice of $\{f_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ and $\{g_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$. In fact, $(\tilde{\mathcal{E}}, \mathcal{D}(\tilde{\mathcal{E}}))$ is a closed non-negative quadratic form, which is called the closure of $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E}))$.

Theorem 4.1 (Friedrichs' theorem). Let $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E}))$ be a non-negative quadratic form. Assume that there exists a linear operator $A : \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E}) \to H$ such that

$$\mathcal{E}(f,g) = (Af,g), \quad f,g \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E}).$$

Then the quadratic form $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E}))$ is closable.

Theorem 4.2. Assume that $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E}))$ is a non-negative closed quadratic form. Then, there exists a self-adjoint operator $(A, \mathcal{D}(A))$ such that $\mathcal{D}(A)$ is dense in $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E})$ with respect to $|| \cdot ||_+$ norm and, for any $f \in \mathcal{D}(A)$, $g \in \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E})$,

$$(Af,g) = \mathcal{E}(f,g).$$

The operator $(A, \mathcal{D}(A))$ as in Theorem 4.2 is called the generator of the closed quadratic form $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E}))$.

Let us consider a linear symmetric oerator $(A, \mathcal{D}(A))$ in H, Assume that A is not self-adjoint, that is, $\mathcal{D}(A)$ is smaller then $\mathcal{D}(A^*)$. Assume that A is non-negative. Define a quadratic form

$$\mathcal{E}(f,g)=(Af,g), \quad f,g\in\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E}):=\mathcal{D}(A).$$

Then \mathcal{E} is a non-negative quadratic form and by the Friedrichs' theorem, $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E}))$ is closable. Let $(\tilde{\mathcal{E}}, \mathcal{D}(\tilde{\mathcal{E}}))$ be the closure of $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{E}))$. Then, by Theorem 4.2, $(\tilde{\mathcal{E}}, \mathcal{D}(\tilde{\mathcal{E}}))$ has generator $(\tilde{A}, \mathcal{D}(\tilde{A}))$, which is a self-adjoint operator. Clearly, $\mathcal{D}(A) \subset \mathcal{D}(\tilde{A})$ and for each $f \in \mathcal{D}(A)$ $Af = \tilde{A}f$. Thus $(\tilde{A}, \mathcal{D}(\tilde{A}))$ is an extension of $(A, \mathcal{D}(A))$. The operator $(\tilde{A}, \mathcal{D}(\tilde{A}))$ is called the Friedrichs' extension of $(A, \mathcal{D}(A))$.

4.2 Markov processes

Let X be a Polish space. Consider a family $(P_{x,t})_{x \in X, t \ge 0}$ of probability measures on $(X, \mathcal{B}(X))$ such that, for each $A \in \mathcal{B}(X)$, the mapping

$$X \ni x \mapsto P_x(A) \in \mathbb{R}$$

is measurable. Let us assume that for each $x \in X$ $P_{x,0} = \delta_x$, the Dirac measure with mass at x, and furthermore, for any $s, t \ge 0$ and $A \in \mathcal{B}(X)$,

$$P_{x,s+t}(A) = \int_X P_{x,s}(dy) P_{y,t}(A).$$

Then, for each $x \in X$, by Kolmogorov's existence theorem, there exists a stochastic process $(M_x(t))_{t\geq 0}$ taking values in X such that M(0) = x a.s. (x being called the starting point of the process), and for any $0 < t_1 < t_2 < \cdots < t_n < t_{n+1}, A_1, \ldots, A_n \in \mathcal{B}(X)$,

$$P(M_x(t_1) \in A_1, \dots, M_x(t_n) \in A_n)$$

= $\int_{A_1} P_{x,t_1}(dx_1) \int_{A_2} P_{x_1,t_2-t_1}(dx_2) \cdots \int_{A_n} P_{x_{n-1},t_n-t_{n-1}}(dx_n)$

Such a process is called a time homogeneous Markov process. This process has 'no memory', which can be mathematically written as follows: for any $0 \le t_1 < t_2 < \ldots < t_n$ and any $A_1, A_2, \ldots, A_n, A_{n+1} \in \mathcal{B}(X)$,

$$P(M_x(t_{n+1}) \in A_{n+1} \mid M_x(t_1) \in A_1, \ M_x(t_2) \in A_2, \dots, \ M_x(t_n) \in A_n)$$

= $P_x(M_x(t_{n+1}) \in A_{n+1} \mid M_x(t_n) \in A_n).$

Thus, each probability measure $P_{x,t}$ describes the distribution of a stochastic process M_y at time s + t ($s \ge 0$) given that at time s, the process is at x. This is why these measures are called transition probabilities.

Recall that a mapping $[0, +\infty) \ni t \mapsto R(t) \in X$ is called cadlag, or right continuous with left limits if, for any $t \ge 0$ and for any sequence $\{t_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ such that $t_n \ge t$ and $t_n \to t$ as $n \to \infty$, we have $R(t_n) \to R(t)$ as $n \to \infty$ (right continuity) and for any t > 0 and any sequence $\{t_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ such that $t_n \le t$ and $t_n \to t$ as $n \to \infty$, the sequence $\{R(t_n)\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$ converges in X.

Often we will drop the lower index x in the notation of a Markov process M_x and just write $(M(t))_{t\geq 0}$. Under some additional conditions on transition probabilities, one may choose a version of a Markov process such that each sample path becomes a cadlag function, (or in some cases even a continuous function). From now on we will assume that such a version of a Markov process has been choosen.

Denote by $D([0, +\infty), X)$ the set of all cadlag function on $[0, +\infty)$ with values in X. So, by our assumption, each sample path of $(M(t))_{t\geq 0}$ belongs to $D([0, +\infty), X)$. We define a σ -algebra \mathcal{C} on $D([0, +\infty), X)$ as the minimal σ -algebra with respect to which all mappings of the form

$$D([0, +\infty), X) \ni \omega \longmapsto (\omega(t_1), \omega(t_2), \dots, \omega(t_n)) \in X^n,$$
$$0 < t_1 < t_2 < \dots < t_n, \quad n \in \mathbb{N},$$

are measurable.

Recall that the law of a stochastic process is the distribution of sample paths of this process. So, in our case, for each starting point $x \in X$ we have a probability measure P_x on $(D([0, +\infty), X), C)$. So, we may always assume that, for each $x \in X$, the corresponding probability space is $(D([0, +\infty), C, P_x))$ and the Markov process is defined by

$$M(t,\omega)=\omega(t).$$

This is called a canonical realization of the process.

Clearly, every probability measure P on $(D([0, +\infty), X), C)$ defines a stochastic process $(Y(t))_{t\geq 0}$ by

$$Y(t,\omega) = \omega(t).$$

So, let μ be a probability measure on X and define a probability measure P on $(D([0, +\infty), X), C)$ by

$$P(C) = \int_X P_x(C)\mu(dx), \quad C \in \mathcal{C}.$$

This measure yields a Markov process $M = (M(t))_{t\geq 0}$ with a random starting point. The measure μ is called the initial distribution of M. If it happens that, for any t > 0, the distribution of this process at time t, i.e., the distribution of M(t) is μ , then we say that the Markov process is stationary. Assume that for any bounded measurable functions $f, g : X \to \mathbb{R}$, we have

$$\int_X \mu(dx) \left(\int_X P_{t,x}(dy) f(y) \right) g(x) = \int_X \mu(dx) f(x) \left(\int_X P_{t,x}(dy) g(y) \right)$$

Then the corresponding Markov process M with initial distribution μ is called an equilibrium Markov process and the measure μ is called a symmetrizing measure for M. The measure μ is stationary for M.

4.3 Generator of a Markov process

Let $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$ be a family of bounded linear operators in H. $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is called a semigroup if $T_0 = \mathbf{1}$ and $T_{s+t} = T_s T_t$ for any $s, t \geq 0$. A semigroup $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is called strongly continuous if for any $f \in H$, the mapping $t \mapsto T_t f \in H$ is continuous. A semigroup $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is called a contraction semigroup if it is a strongly continuous semigroup and furthermore, $||T_t|| \leq 1$ for all $t \geq 0$.

Define

$$\mathcal{D}(L) = \left\{ \phi \in H \mid \text{there exists a limit } \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} (T_t \phi - \phi) \text{ in } H \right\}.$$

Then, $\mathcal{D}(L)$ is a dense, linear subset of H. Define,

$$L\phi := \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} (T_t \phi - \phi), \text{ for each } \phi \in \mathcal{D}(L).$$

Then, $(L, \mathcal{D}(L))$ is a closed operator in H.

This operator $(L, \mathcal{D}(L))$ is called the generator of the contraction semigroup $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$, and one writes,

$$T_t = e^{tL}$$

Remark 4.1. For $\phi \in \mathcal{D}(L)$, at least heuristically, we have:

$$L\phi = \frac{d}{dt}\bigg|_{t=0} e^{tL}\phi$$

$$= \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} (e^{tL} - e^{-0L}) \phi$$
$$= \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} (T_t \phi - \phi).$$

If each operator T_t of a contraction semigroup $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is self-adjoint, then the generator $(L, \mathcal{D}(L))$ of this semigroup is a self-adjoint, non-positive definite operator, the latter meaning that $(Lf, f) \leq 0$ for any $f \in \mathcal{D}(L)$.

Assume that we have a probability measure μ on $(X, \mathcal{B}(X))$, and we consider the Hilbert space $L^2(X, \mu)$. Let $(M(t))_{t\geq 0}$ be an equilibrium Markov process on X with stationary distribution μ and transition probabilities $(P_{t,x})_{t\geq 0,x\in X}$.

Define for each $f \in L^2(X, \mu)$ and $t \ge 0$,

$$(T_t f)(x) = \int_X f(\omega) P_{t,x}(d\omega), \quad x \in X.$$
(4.2)

Then, $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is a contraction semigroup in $L^2(X,\mu)$ and the generator L of this semigroup is called the generator of the Markov procress. L is a self-adjoint operator in $L^2(X,\mu)$. In many cases, study of a Markov process reduces to study of its generator L in $L^2(X,\mu)$.

Let X be a Polish space, let $\mathcal{B}(X)$ be the Borel σ -algebra on X, and let m be a probability measure on $(X, \mathcal{B}(X))$. Let $(\mathcal{E}, D(\mathcal{E}))$ be a closed, symmetric, non-negative, quadratic form on $L^2(X,m)$. Then $(\mathcal{E}, D(\mathcal{E}))$ is called a Dirichlet form if, for each $F \in D(\mathcal{E})$, we have $(F \vee 0) \land 1 \in D(\mathcal{E})$ and

$$\mathcal{E}((F \lor 0) \land 1) \le \mathcal{E}(F).$$

Let $(\mathcal{E}, D(\mathcal{E}))$ be a Dirichlet form on $L^2(X, m)$. For a subset $A \subset X$, we define

$$D(\mathcal{E})_A := \{F \in D(\mathcal{E}) \mid F = 0 \text{ on } X \setminus A\}.$$

A sequence $(A_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of closed subsets of X is called an \mathcal{E} -nest if

$$\bigcup_{n\in\mathbb{N}}D(\mathcal{E})_{A_n}$$

is dense in $D(\mathcal{E})$ with respect to the norm

$$\|\cdot\|_{+} := \left(\mathcal{E}(\cdot) + \|\cdot\|_{L^{2}(X,m)}\right)^{1/2}.$$

A subset $N \subset X$ is called \mathcal{E} -exceptional if

$$N \subset \bigcap_{n \in \mathbb{N}} A_n^c$$

for some \mathcal{E} -nest $(A_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$. Note that every Borel \mathcal{E} -exceptional set has m measure zero. A property of points in X holds \mathcal{E} -quasi-everywhere (abbreviated \mathcal{E} -q.e.) if the property holds outside some \mathcal{E} -exceptional set. Evidently, if a property holds \mathcal{E} -q.e., then it holds m-m.e.

Assume that there exists a subset \mathcal{F} of $D(\mathcal{E}) \cap C(X)$, where C(X) is the set of all continuous functions on E, which is dense in $D(\mathcal{E})$ with respect to the norm $\|\cdot\|_+$ and such that the functions from \mathcal{F} separate points of X. The latter means that for any $x, y \in X, x \neq y$, there exist $f \in \mathcal{F}$ such that $f(x) \neq f(y)$. Then, the Dirichlet form $(\mathcal{E}, D(\mathcal{E}))$ is called quasi-regular if there exists an \mathcal{E} -nest $(A_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ consisting of compact sets in X.

Finally, let us define the notion of quasi-continuity. Let $F : A \to \mathbb{R}, A \subset X$. And let $(\mathcal{E}, D(\mathcal{E}))$ be a Dirichlet form on $L^2(X, m)$. Then the function F is called \mathcal{E} -quasi continuous if there exist an increasing sequence $(A_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of closed subsets of X which form an \mathcal{E} -nest, $\bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} A_n \subset A$ and for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ the restriction of F to A_n is a continuous function.

4.4 Conservative Hunt processes

Let us consider a special class of Markov processes which is called conservative Hunt processes. So let X be a Polish space, and let $(M(t))_{t\geq 0}$ be a Markov process taking values in X and defined on sample space Ω equipped with a σ -algebra \mathcal{F} . Let $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ be the filtration generated by $(M(t))_{t\geq 0}$. For each $x \in X$ we denote by P_x the probability measure on (Ω, \mathcal{F}) which corresponds to the process $(M_x(t))_{t\geq 0}$, i.e., to our Markov process starting at x. We also assume that, for each $t \geq 0$, there exist a mapping $\theta_t : \Omega \to \Omega$, called time shift, which satisfies

$$M_{s}(\theta_{t}\omega) = M_{s+t}(\omega).$$

For all $s \ge 0$, we may now write our Markov process as follows:

$$M = (\Omega, \mathcal{F}, (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \ge 0}, (\Theta_t)_{t \ge 0}, (M(t))_{t \ge 0}, (P_x)_{x \in X}).$$

Such a process is called a conservative Hunt process if it satisfies the following additional properties:

- (Normal property) $P_x(M(0) = x) = 1$ for all $x \in X$.
- (Infinite life-time) $P_x(M(t) \in X \text{ for all } t > 0) = 1 \text{ for all } x \in X.$
- (Right continuity) For each ω ∈ Ω, [0,∞) ∋ t → M(t,ω) ∈ X is right continuous.
- (Strong Markov property) For every $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ -stopping time τ and every probability measure m on $(X, \mathcal{B}(X))$,

$$P_m(M(\tau+t) \in A \mid \mathcal{F}_{\tau}) = P_{X(\tau)}(X(t) \in A) \quad P_m\text{-a.s.}$$

for all $A \in \mathcal{B}(X)$ and $t \ge 0$. Here, $P_m(\cdot) := \int_X m(dx) P_x(\cdot)$.

(Left limits) For every probability measure m on (X, B(X)), lim_{s↑t} M(s) exists in X for all t > 0 P_m-a.s.

• (quasi-left continuity) For every probability measure m on $(X, \mathcal{B}(X))$, if $\tau, \tau_n, n \in \mathbb{N}$, are $(\mathcal{F}_t^{P_m})_{t\geq 0}$ -stopping times such that $\tau_n \uparrow \tau$, then $X(\tau_n) \to X(\tau)$ as $n \to \infty P_m$ -a.s. Here, $\mathcal{F}_t^{P_m}$ denotes the completion of the σ -algebra \mathcal{F}_t with respect to the probability measure P_m (i.e. we add to \mathcal{F}_t all sets from \mathcal{F} which are of zero measure P_m .)

Let *m* be a probability measure on (X, \mathcal{B}) . Let *M* and *M'* be two Hunt processes with state space *X*. Denote by $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$ and $(T'_t)_{t\geq 0}$, their corresponding semigroups(see (4.2)). Then *M* and *M'* are called *m*-equivalent if there exist a set $S \in \mathcal{B}(X)$, such that

- $m(X \setminus S) = 0;$
- S is both M-invariant are M'-invariant;
- (T_tf)(x) = (T'_tf)(x) for each t > 0, each bounded measurable function
 f : X → ℝ and each x ∈ S.

Recall that S being M-invariant means that there exist $\widetilde{\Omega} \in \mathcal{F}$ such that $\{\overline{M_0^t} \cap (X \setminus S) \neq 0 \text{ for some } t > 0\} \subset \widetilde{\Omega} \text{ and } P_x(\widetilde{\Omega}) = 0 \text{ for all } x \in S.$ Here $\overline{M_0^t}$ is the closure of $\{M_s(\omega) \mid s \in [0, t]\}$ in X.

Chapter 5

Glauber and Kawasaki dynamics for permanental point processes

In this chapter we will study two types of equilibrium dynamics of an infinite particle system which leave a permanental point process invariant. These dynamics are Glauber (spatial birth-and-death) and Kawasaki (a dynamic of hopping particles).

5.1 Equilibrium Glauber and Kawasaki dynamics — general results

Let a space X and a measure σ on $(X, \mathcal{B}(X))$ be as in subsection 3.1.3.

Let us start with an informal description of Glauber and Kawasaki dynamics. A Glauber dynamics is a stochastic dynamics of an infinite particle system in which particles randomly appear (are born) and disappear (die). It is a Markov process whose formal (pre-)generator has the form

$$(L_G F)(\gamma) = \sum_{x \in \gamma} d(x, \gamma \setminus x) (F(\gamma \setminus x) - F(\gamma)) + \int_X \sigma(dx) b(x, \gamma) (F(\gamma \cup x) - F(\gamma)).$$
(5.1)

The coefficient $d(x, \gamma \setminus x)$ describes the rate at which particle x of configuration γ dies, while $b(x, \gamma)$ describes the rate at which, given configuration γ , a new particle is born at x.

A Kawasaki dynamics is a Markov process on Γ in which particles randomly hop over the space X. The Markov (pre-)generator of such a dynamics is given by

$$(L_K F)(\gamma) = \sum_{x \in \gamma} \int_X c(x, y, \gamma \setminus x) (F(\gamma \setminus x \cup y) - F(\gamma)) \sigma(dy).$$
(5.2)

The coefficient $c(x, y, \gamma \setminus x)$ describes the rate at which particle x of configuration γ hops to y, taking the rest of the configuration, $\gamma \setminus x$, into account.

Generally speaking, both Glauber and Kawasaki dynamics are not equilibrium dynamics. Let μ be a point process on X which satisfies the (Σ'_{σ}) property, i.e., there exists Papangelou intensity $r(x, \gamma)$ of the measure μ : for each measurable function $F: X \times \Gamma_X \to [0, +\infty]$, we have

$$\int_{\Gamma_X} \sum_{x \in \gamma} F(x, \gamma) \mu(dy) = \int_{\Gamma_X} \mu(dy) \int_X \sigma(dx) r(x, \gamma) F(x, \gamma \cup x).$$
(5.3)

The condition (Σ'_{σ}) can be thought of as a kind of weak Gibbsianess of μ . Intuitively, we may treat the Papangelou intensity as

$$r(x,\gamma) = \exp[-E(x,\gamma)], \qquad (5.4)$$

where $E(x, \gamma)$ is the relative energy of interaction between particle x and configuration γ .

Then it is easy to see which conditions the coefficients b and d, respectively c, must satisfy in order that the operators L_G and L_K be symmetric in
$L^{2}(\Gamma_{X},\mu)$ (and so μ is a symmetrizing, and so invariant measure of the process). These conditions (called balance conditions) look as follows, see $\lfloor 20, 21 \rfloor$:

- $b(x, \gamma) = r(x, \gamma)d(x, \gamma)$ (for the Glauber dynamics)
- $r(x,\gamma)c(x,y,\gamma) = r(y,\gamma)c(y,x,\gamma)$ (for the Kawasaki dynamics)

So, let μ be a point process in X which satisfies the condition (Σ'_{σ}) , i.e., (5.3) holds.

To define an equilibrium Glauber dynamics for which μ is a symmetrizing measure, we fix a death coefficient as a measurable function $d: X \times \Gamma_X \rightarrow$ $[0, +\infty]$, and then define a birth coefficient $b: X \times \Gamma_X \rightarrow [0, +\infty]$ by

$$b(x,\gamma) = d(x,\gamma)r(x,\gamma), \quad (x,\gamma) \in X \times \Gamma_X$$
(5.5)

To define a Kawasaki dynamics, we fix a measurable function $c: X^2 \times \Gamma_X^2 \to [0, +\infty]$ which satisfies

$$r(x,\gamma)c(x,y,\gamma) = r(y,\gamma)c(y,x,\gamma), \quad (x,y,\gamma) \in X^2 \times \Gamma_X.$$
 (5.6)

We will also assume that the function $c(x, y, \gamma)$ vanishes if at least one of the functions $r(x, \gamma)$ and $r(y, \gamma)$ vanishes, i.e.,

$$c(x, y, \gamma) = c(x, y, \gamma)\chi_{\{r>0\}}(x, \gamma)\chi_{\{r>0\}}(y, \gamma).$$
(5.7)

Here, for a set A, χ_A denotes the indicator function of A. We refer to [31, Remark 3.1] for a justification of this assumption. Let us recall this argumentation.

As we discussed, the coefficient $c(x, y, \gamma \setminus x)$ describes the rate of the jump of particle $x \in \gamma$ to y. For each $\gamma \in \Gamma_X$ and $x \in X \setminus \gamma$, we interpreted $r(x, \gamma)$ as $\exp[-E(x, \gamma)]$, where $E(x, \gamma)$ is the relative energy of interaction between configuration γ and particle x. Hence, if $r(y, \gamma \setminus x) = 0$, then the relative energy of interaction between the configuration $\gamma \setminus x$ and particle y is $+\infty$. Hence, it is intuitively clear that the particle x cannot hop to y, i.e., $c(x, y, \gamma \setminus x)$ should be equal to zero. A symmetry reason also implies that we should have $c(x, y, \gamma \setminus x) = 0$ if $r(x, \gamma \setminus x) = 0$, i.e., if the relative energy of interaction between $x \in \gamma$ and the rest of configuration is ∞ .

We denote by $\mathcal{F}C_{b}(C_{0}(X),\Gamma_{X})$ the space of all functions of the form

$$\Gamma_X \ni \gamma \mapsto F(\gamma) = g(\langle \varphi_1, \gamma \rangle, \dots, \langle \varphi_N, \gamma \rangle), \tag{5.8}$$

where $N \in \mathbb{N}, \varphi_1, \ldots, \varphi_N \in C_0(X)$ and $g \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^N)$. Here, $C_b(\mathbb{R}^N)$ denotes the space of all continuous bounded functions on \mathbb{R}^N . We assume that, for each $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$,

$$\int_{\Gamma_{X}} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{\Lambda} \gamma(dx) \, d(x, \gamma \setminus x) < \infty, \tag{5.9}$$

$$\int_{\Gamma_X} \mu(d\gamma) \int_X \gamma(dx) \int_X \sigma(dy) c(x, y, \gamma \setminus x) (\chi_{\Lambda}(x) + \chi_{\Lambda}(y)) < \infty.$$
 (5.10)

As easily seen, conditions (5.9) and (5.10) are sufficient in order to define quadratic forms

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{G}}(F,G) &:= \int_{\Gamma_{X}} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{X} \gamma(dx) \, d(x,\gamma \setminus x) (F(\gamma \setminus x) - F(\gamma)) (G(\gamma \setminus x) - G(\gamma)), \\ \mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{K}}(F,G) &:= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Gamma_{X}} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{X} \gamma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) \, c(x,y,\gamma \setminus x) (F(\gamma \setminus x \cup y) - F(\gamma)) \\ &\times (G(\gamma \setminus x \cup y) - G(\gamma)), \end{split}$$

where $F, G \in \mathcal{F}C_{\mathrm{b}}(C_0(X), \Gamma_X)$.

For the construction of the Kawasaki dynamics, we will also assume that the following technical assumptions holds:

 $\exists u, v \in \mathbb{R} \quad \forall \Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_0(X) :$

$$\int_{\Lambda} \gamma(dx) \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dy) r(x, \gamma \setminus x)^{u} r(y, \gamma \setminus x)^{v} c(x, y, \gamma \setminus x) \in L^{2}(\Gamma_{X}, \mu) < \infty.$$
(5.11)

Note that in formula (5.11) and below, we use the convention $\frac{0}{0} := 0$.

The following theorem was essentially proved in [31].

Theorem 5.1. (i) Assume that a point process μ satisfies (5.3). Assume that conditions (3.1), (5.9), respectively (5.6), (5.7), (5.10), and (5.11) are satisfied. Let $\sharp = G, K$. Then the quadratic form $(\mathcal{E}_{\sharp}, \mathcal{F}C_{b}(C_{0}(x), \Gamma_{X}))$ is closable in $L^{2}(\Gamma_{X}, \mu)$ and its closure will be denoted by $(\mathcal{E}_{\sharp}, D(\mathcal{E}_{\sharp}))$. Further there exists a conservative Hunt process (Glauber, respectively Kawasaki dynamics)

$$M^{\sharp} = \left(\Omega^{\sharp}, \mathcal{F}^{\sharp}, (\mathcal{F}^{\sharp}_{t})_{t \ge 0}, (\Theta^{\sharp}_{t})_{t \ge 0}, (X^{\sharp}(t))_{t \ge 0}, (P^{\sharp}_{\gamma})_{\gamma \in \Gamma_{X}}\right)$$

on Γ_X which is properly associated with $(\mathcal{E}_{\sharp}, D(\mathcal{E}_{\sharp}))$, i.e., for all (μ -version of) $F \in L^2(\Gamma_X, \mu)$ and t > 0

$$\Gamma_X \ni \gamma \mapsto p_t^{\sharp} F(\gamma) := \int_{\Omega^{\sharp}} F(X^{\sharp}(t)) \, dP_{\gamma}^{\sharp}$$

is an \mathcal{E}^{\sharp} -quasi continuous version of $\exp(tL_{\sharp})F$, where $(-L_{\sharp}, D(L_{\sharp}))$ is the generator of $(\mathcal{E}_{\sharp}, D(\mathcal{E}_{\sharp}))$. M^{\sharp} is up-to μ -equivalence unique. In particular, M^{\sharp} is μ -symmetric and has μ as invariant measure.

(ii) Further assume that, for each $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$,

$$\int_{\Lambda} \gamma(dx) \, d(x, \gamma \setminus x) \in L^2(\Gamma_X, \mu), \quad \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \, b(x, \gamma) \in L^2(\Gamma_X, \mu), \quad (5.12)$$

in the Glauber case, and

$$\int_{X} \gamma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) c(x, y, \gamma \setminus x) (\chi_{\Lambda}(x) + \chi_{\Lambda}(y)) \in L^{2}(\Gamma_{X}, \mu)$$
(5.13)

in the Kawasaki case. Then $\mathcal{F}C_{b}(C_{0}(X),\Gamma_{X}) \subset D(L_{\sharp})$, and for each $F \in \mathcal{F}C_{b}(C_{0}(X),\Gamma_{X})$, $L_{\sharp}F$ is given by formulas (5.1) and (5.2), respectively.

Proof. The statement follows from Theorems 3.1 and 3.2 in [31]. Note that, although these theorems are formulated for determinantal point processes only, their proof only uses the (Σ'_{σ}) property of these point processes. Note also that condition (5.11) is formulated in [31] only for v = 1, however the proof of Lemma 3.2 in [31] admits a straightforward generalization to the case of an arbitrary $v \in \mathbb{R}$ [30].

Remark 5.1. Part (ii) of Theorem 5.1 states that the operator $(-L_{\sharp}, D(L_{\sharp}))$ is the Friedrichs' extention of the operator $(-L_{\sharp}, \mathcal{F}C_{b}(C_{0}(X), \Gamma_{X}))$ defined by formulas (5.1), (5.2), respectively (see Section 4.1).

Let us fix a parameter $s \in [0, 1]$ and define

$$d(x,\gamma) := r(x,\gamma)^{s-1} \chi_{\{r>0\}}(x,\gamma), \quad (x,\gamma) \in X \times \Gamma_X, \tag{5.14}$$

$$b(x,\gamma) := r(x,\gamma)^s \chi_{\{r>0\}}(x,\gamma), \quad (x,\gamma) \in X \times \Gamma_X, \tag{5.15}$$

$$c(x, y, \gamma) := a(x, y)r(x, \gamma)^{s-1}r(y, \gamma)^s \chi_{\{r>0\}}(x, \gamma)\chi_{\{r>0\}}(y, \gamma),$$
$$(x, y, \gamma) \in X^2 \times \Gamma_X.$$
(5.16)

Here the function $a: X^2 \to [0, +\infty)$ is bounded, measurable, symmetric (i.e., a(x, y) = a(y, x)), and satisfies

$$\sup_{x \in X} \int_X a(x, y) \,\sigma(dy) < \infty. \tag{5.17}$$

Note that the balance conditions (3.1) and (5.6) are satisfied for these coefficients, and so is condition (5.7).

Remark 5.2. Note that, if $X = \mathbb{R}^d$ and a(x, y) has the form a(x - y) for a function $a : \mathbb{R}^d \to [0, \infty)$, then condition (5.17) means that $a \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d, dx)$. (Here and below, in the case $X = \mathbb{R}^d$, we use an obvious abuse of notation.) Remark 5.3. Using representation (5.4), we can rewrite formulas (5.14)–(5.16) as follows:

$$d(x, \gamma \setminus x) = \exp[(1-s)E(x, \gamma \setminus x)]\chi_{\{E < +\infty\}}(x, \gamma \setminus x),$$

$$b(x, \gamma \setminus x) = \exp[-sE(x, \gamma \setminus x)]\chi_{\{E < +\infty\}}(x, \gamma \setminus x),$$

$$c(x, y, \gamma \setminus x) = a(x, y) \exp[(1 - s)E(x, \gamma \setminus x) - sE(y, \gamma \setminus x)]$$

$$\times \chi_{\{E < +\infty\}}(x, \gamma \setminus x)\chi_{\{E < +\infty\}}(y, \gamma \setminus x).$$

So, if the corresponding dynamics exist, one can give the following heuristic description of them: Both dynamics are concentrated on configurations $\gamma \in \Gamma_X$ such that, for each $x \in \gamma$, the relative energy of interaction between x and the rest of configuration, $\gamma \setminus x$, is finite; those particles tend to die, respectively hop, which have a high energy of interaction with the rest of the configuration, while it is more probable that a new particle is born at y, respectively x hops to y, if the energy of interaction between y and the rest of the configuration is low.

Let us assume that the point process μ satisfies:

$$\forall \Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_0(X) : \quad \int_{\Lambda} \gamma(dx) \in L^2(\Gamma_X, \mu)$$

Then, by choosing u = 1 - s and v = -s in (5.11), we conclude from (5.17) that the coefficient c given by (5.16) satisfies (5.11).

5.2 Equilibrium Glauber and Kawasaki dynamics for permanental point processes

We will now prove that, for a point process $\mu^{(l)}$ as in Theorem 3.5, Glauber and Kawasaki dynamics with coefficients (5.14), (5.15) and (5.16), respectively exist.

Theorem 5.2. Let the operator K acting in $L^2(X, \sigma)$ be as in subsec. 3.1.3, and let the kernel $\mathcal{K}(x, y)$ of K be also chosen as in subsection 3.1.3. Let $\mu^{(l)}, l \in \mathbb{N}$, be a point process as in Theorem 3.5. Then: (i) For $\mu^{(l)}$, the coefficients $d(x,\gamma)$ and $b(x,\gamma)$ defined by (5.14) and (5.15), satisfy conditions (3.1) and (5.9) and so statements (i) and (ii) of Theorem 5.1 hold, in particular, a corresponding Glauber dynamics exists.

(ii) Assume additionally that $\mathcal{K}(x, x)$ is bounded outside a set $\Delta \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$. Then for $\mu^{(l)}$, the coefficient $c(x, y, \gamma)$ defined by (5.16), satisfies (5.6), (5.7), (5.10) and (5.11), and so statements (i) and (ii) of Theorem 5.1 hold, in particular, a corresponding Kawasaki dynamics exists.

Proof. We will only prove statement (ii) of Theorem 5.2, as the proof of statement (i) is similar and simper. Also, for simplicity of notation, we will only consider the case l = 1 (for l > 1 the proof being completely analogous). We will also omit the upper index ⁽¹⁾ from our notation.

We already know that the coefficient $c(x, y, \gamma)$ defined by (5.16) satisfies (5.6). By the very definition of $c(x, y, \gamma)$, formula (5.16), condition (5.7) is satisfied. Furthermore, at the end of Section 5.1 we have already explained why condition (5.11) is satisfied. Thus, we only need to prove (5.10).

We start with the following

Lemma 5.1. For the permanental point process μ under consideration, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and for σ -a.a. $x \in X$

$$\int_{\Gamma} r(x,\gamma)^n \,\mu(d\gamma) \le \frac{(2n)!}{2^n \,n!} \,\mathcal{K}(x,x)^n. \tag{5.18}$$

Proof. Recall that by $\widetilde{\mathbb{E}}$ we denote the expectation with respect to the probability measure $\widetilde{\mathbb{P}}$ defined by (2.26) with g(x) given by (3.34) (recall that l = 1 now). Recall also that we denote by $\mathcal{K}_1(x, y)$ the integral kernel of the operator \sqrt{K} .

Using Jensen's inequality for conditional expectation (e.g. [3, 15.3 Theorem]), (3.40), and Theorem 3.2, we have:

$$\int_{\Gamma} r(x,\gamma)^n \, \mu(d\gamma) = \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \int_{\Gamma} \pi_{g(\cdot,\omega)\sigma}(d\gamma) r(x,\gamma)^n$$

$$\begin{split} &= \int_{\Omega \times \Gamma} \widetilde{\mathbb{P}}(d\omega, d\gamma) r(x, \gamma)^n \\ &= \widetilde{\mathbb{E}} \left(r(x, \gamma)^n \right) \\ &= \widetilde{\mathbb{E}} \left(\widetilde{\mathbb{E}} (Y(x)^2 \mid \mathcal{F})^n \right) \\ &\leq \widetilde{\mathbb{E}} \left(\widetilde{\mathbb{E}} (Y(x)^{2n} \mid \mathcal{F}) \right) \\ &= \widetilde{\mathbb{E}} (Y(x)^{2n}) \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{P}(d\omega) \int_{\Gamma} \pi_{g(\cdot,\omega)\sigma} (d\gamma) Y(x)^{2n} \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{P}(d\omega) Y(x)^{2n} \int_{\Gamma} \pi_{g(\cdot,\omega)\sigma} (d\gamma) \\ &= \int_{\Omega} \mathbb{P}(d\omega) Y(x)^{2n} \\ &= \frac{(2n)!}{2^n n!} \mathcal{K}(x, x)^n, \end{split}$$

for σ -a.a. $x \in X$.

By (5.3) we have, for each $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$,

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{X} \gamma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) c(x, y, \gamma \setminus x) (\chi_{\Lambda}(x) + \chi_{\Lambda}(y)) \\ &= \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{X} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) r(x, \gamma) c(x, y, \gamma) (\chi_{\Lambda}(x) + \chi_{\Lambda}(y)) \\ &= \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{X} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) a(x, y) r(x, \gamma)^{s} r(y, \gamma)^{s} \chi_{\{r>0\}}(x, \gamma) \\ &\times \chi_{\{r>0\}}(y, \gamma) (\chi_{\Lambda}(x) + \chi_{\Lambda}(y)) \\ &\leq \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{X} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) a(x, y) r(x, \gamma)^{s} r(y, \gamma)^{s} (\chi_{\Lambda}(x) + \chi_{\Lambda}(y)) \\ &= 2 \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) a(x, y) r(x, \gamma)^{s} r(y, \gamma)^{s} \\ &\leq 2 \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) a(x, y) (1 + r(x, \gamma)) (1 + r(y, \gamma)). \end{split}$$
(5.19)

Here, we used that, for each $s \in [0, 1]$ and a > 0,

$$a^s \le 1 + a, \tag{5.20}$$

Indeed, if $a \in (0, 1]$, then $a^s \le 1 \le 1 + a$, and if a > 1, then $a^s \le a^1 \le 1 + a$. By (5.17)

$$\int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) \, a(x,y) < \infty.$$
 (5.21)

Below, C_i , i = 1, 2, 3, ..., will denote positive constants whose explicit values are not important for us. We have, by (5.17) and (3.39),

$$\int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) a(x, y) r(x, \gamma)
= \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) r(x, \gamma) \left(\int_{X} \sigma(dy) a(x, y) \right)
\leq C_{1} \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) r(x, \gamma)
= C_{1} \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{\Lambda} \gamma(dx)
= C_{1} \int_{\Lambda} \mathcal{K}(x, x) \sigma(dx) < \infty.$$
(5.22)

Here we used that the first correlation function of μ , $k_{\mu}^{(1)}(x)$ is $\mathcal{K}(x,x)$.

Next, by (3.40) and (3.8),

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) \, a(x,y) r(y,\gamma) \\ &= \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) \, a(x,y) \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) r(y,\gamma) \\ &= \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) \, a(x,y) \mathcal{K}(y,y) \\ &= \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \int_{\Delta} \sigma(dy) \, a(x,y) \mathcal{K}(y,y) + \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \int_{\Delta^{c}} \sigma(dy) \, a(x,y) \mathcal{K}(y,y) \\ &\leq C_{2} \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \int_{\Delta} \sigma(dy) \mathcal{K}(y,y) + C_{3} \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \int_{\Delta^{c}} \sigma(dy) \, a(x,y) < \infty, \\ &\leq C_{2} \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \int_{\Delta} \sigma(dy) \mathcal{K}(y,y) + C_{3} \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) \, a(x,y) < \infty, \end{split}$$

$$(5.23)$$

where we used that the function a is bounded and $\mathcal{K}(y, y)$ is bounded on Δ^c .

Analogously, using Lemma 5.1 and the Cauchy inequality, we have:

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) a(x,y) r(x,\gamma) r(y,\gamma) \\ &= \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) a(x,y) \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) r(x,\gamma) r(y,\gamma) \\ &\leq \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) a(x,y) \left(\int_{\Gamma} r(x,\gamma)^{2} \mu(d\gamma) \right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{\Gamma} r(y,\gamma)^{2} \mu(d\gamma) \right)^{1/2} \\ &\leq C_{4} \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) a(x,y) \mathcal{K}(x,x) \mathcal{K}(y,y) \\ &= C_{4} \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \int_{\Delta} \sigma(dy) a(x,y) \mathcal{K}(x,x) \mathcal{K}(y,y) \\ &+ C_{4} \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \int_{\Delta^{c}} \sigma(dy) a(x,y) \mathcal{K}(x,x) \mathcal{K}(y,y) \\ &\leq C_{5} \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \mathcal{K}(x,x) \int_{\Delta} \sigma(dy) \mathcal{K}(y,y) \\ &+ C_{6} \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \mathcal{K}(x,x) \int_{\Delta} \sigma(dy) \mathcal{K}(y,y) \\ &\leq C_{5} \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \mathcal{K}(x,x) \int_{\Delta} \sigma(dy) \mathcal{K}(y,y) \\ &+ C_{6} \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \mathcal{K}(x,x) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) a(x,y) < \infty. \end{split}$$
(5.24)

Thus, by (5.19)–(5.24), the theorem is proven.

Theorem 5.3. (i) Let $s \in [\frac{1}{2}, 1]$, and let the conditions of Theorem 5.2 (i) be satisfied. Then the coefficients $d(x, \gamma)$ and $b(x, \gamma)$ defined by (5.14) and (5.15), satisfy condition (5.12). Thus, $\mathcal{F}C_{b}(C_{0}(X), \Gamma) \subset D(L_{G})$, and for each $F \in \mathcal{F}C_{b}(C_{0}(X), \Gamma)$, $L_{G}F$ is given by formula (5.1).

(ii) Let $s \in \left[\frac{1}{2}, 1\right]$, and let the conditions of Theorem 5.2 (ii) be satisfied. Further assume that either

$$\forall \Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_0(X) \; \exists \Lambda' \in \mathcal{B}_0(X) \; \forall x \in \Lambda \; \forall y \in (\Lambda')^c : \quad a(x, y) = 0, \qquad (5.25)$$

or

$$\int_{\Delta} \mathcal{K}(x,x)^2 \,\sigma(dx) < \infty, \tag{5.26}$$

where Δ is as in Theorem 5.2 (ii). Then the coefficient $c(x, y, \gamma)$ defined by (5.16), satisfies condition (5.13). Thus, $\mathcal{F}C_{\mathrm{b}}(C_{0}(X), \Gamma) \subset D(L_{\mathrm{K}})$, and for each $F \in \mathcal{F}C_{\mathrm{b}}(C_{0}(X), \Gamma)$, $L_{\mathrm{K}}F$ is given by formula (5.2).

Remark 5.4. If $X = \mathbb{R}^d$ and the function *a* is as in Remark 5.2, then condition (5.25) means that the function *a* has a compact support.

Proof of Theorem 5.3. We again prove only the part related to Kawasaki dynamics and only in the case l = 1, omitting the upper index ⁽¹⁾ from our notation.

We first assume that (5.25) is satisfied. Since the function a is bounded and satisfies (5.25), it suffices to show that, for each $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$,

$$\int_{\Lambda} \gamma(dx) \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dy) r(x, \gamma \backslash x)^{s-1} r(y, \gamma \backslash x)^s \chi_{\{r>0\}}(x, \gamma \backslash x) \chi_{\{r>0\}}(y, \gamma \backslash x) \in L^2(\mu).$$
(5.27)

We note that, for $s \in [\frac{1}{2}, 1]$, $2s - 1 \in [0, 1]$. Therefore, by the Cauchy inequality and (5.20), we have

$$\int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \left(\int_{\Lambda} \gamma(dx) r(x, \gamma \setminus x)^{s-1} \chi_{\{r>0\}}(x, \gamma \setminus x) \right)^{2} \\
\times \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dy) r(y, \gamma \setminus x)^{s} \chi_{\{r>0\}}(y, \gamma \setminus x) \right)^{2} \\
\leq \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{\Lambda} \gamma(dx) r(x, \gamma \setminus x)^{2(s-1)} \chi_{\{r>0\}}(x, \gamma \setminus x) \\
\times \left(\int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dy) r(y, \gamma \setminus x)^{s} \chi_{\{r>0\}}(y, \gamma \setminus x) \right)^{2} \gamma(\Lambda) \\
= \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) r(x, \gamma)^{2s-1} \chi_{\{r>0\}}(x, \gamma) \\
\times \left(\int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dy) r(y, \gamma)^{s} \chi_{\{r>0\}}(y, \gamma) \right)^{2} (\gamma(\Lambda) + 1) \\
\leq \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) (1 + r(x, \gamma)) \chi_{\{r>0\}}(x, \gamma) \\
\times \left(\int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dy) (1 + r(y, \gamma)) \chi_{\{r>0\}}(y, \gamma) \right)^{2} (\gamma(\Lambda) + 1) \\$$
(5.28)

$$\leq \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \left(\int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx)(1+r(x,\gamma)) \right)^{3} (\gamma(\Lambda)+1)$$

$$\leq \left(\int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \left(\int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx)(1+r(x,\gamma)) \right)^{6} \right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma)(\gamma(\Lambda)+1)^{2} \right)^{1/2}$$

$$= \left(\int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \left(\sigma(\Lambda) + \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx)r(x,\gamma) \right)^{6} \right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma)(\gamma(\Lambda)+1)^{2} \right)^{1/2}.$$

(5.29)

We have, for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \left(\int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \, r(x,\gamma) \right)^{n} \\ &= \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx_{1}) \cdots \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx_{n}) \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \, r(x_{1},\gamma) \cdots r(x_{n},\gamma) \\ &\leq \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx_{1}) \cdots \int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx_{n}) \| r(x_{1},\cdot) \|_{L^{n}(\mu)} \cdots \| r(x_{n},\cdot) \|_{L^{n}(\mu)} \\ &\leq \left(\int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \| r(x,\cdot) \|_{L^{n}(\mu)} \right)^{n} \end{split}$$

By Lemma 5.1,

$$\begin{aligned} \|r(x,\cdot)\|_{L^{n}(\mu)} &= \left(\int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma)r(x,\gamma)^{n}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}} \\ &\leq \left(\frac{(2n)!}{2^{n}n!}\mathcal{K}(x,x)^{n}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}} \\ &= \left(\frac{(2n)!}{2^{n}n!}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}\mathcal{K}(x,x). \end{aligned}$$

Hence,

$$\int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \left(\int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) r(x,\gamma) \right)^{n} \\
\leq \left(\int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \left(\frac{(2n)!}{2^{n} n!} \right)^{\frac{1}{n}} \mathcal{K}(x,x) \right)^{n} \\
\leq \frac{(2n)!}{2^{n} n!} \left(\int_{\Lambda} \sigma(dx) \mathcal{K}(x,x) \right)^{n} < \infty.$$
(5.30)

Now, (5.27) follows from (5.29) and (5.30).

Next, we assume that (5.26) is satisfied. We fix $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_0(X)$ and denote

$$u(x,y) := a(x,y)(\chi_{\Lambda}(x) + \chi_{\Lambda}(y)).$$

Then, by the Cauchy inequality and (5.17),

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \left(\int_{X} \gamma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) \, u(x,y) r(x,\gamma \setminus x)^{s-1} \chi_{\{r>0\}}(x,\gamma \setminus x) \right. \\ &\times r(y,\gamma \setminus x)^{s} \chi_{\{r>0\}}(y,\gamma \setminus x) \right)^{2} \\ &\leq \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{X} \gamma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) \, u(x,y) r(x,\gamma \setminus x)^{2(s-1)} \chi_{\{r>0\}}(x,\gamma \setminus x) \\ &\times r(y,\gamma \setminus x)^{2s} \chi_{\{r>0\}}(y,\gamma \setminus x) \int_{X} \gamma(dx') \int_{X} \sigma(dy') \, u(x',y') \\ &= \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{X} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) \, u(x,y) r(x,\gamma)^{2s-1} \chi_{\{r>0\}}(x,\gamma) \\ &\times r(y,\gamma)^{2s} \chi_{\{r>0\}}(y,\gamma) \int_{X} (\gamma + \varepsilon_{x}) (dx') \int_{X} \sigma(dy') \, u(x',y') \\ &\leq \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{X} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) \, u(x,y) (1 + r(x,\gamma)) (1 + r(y,\gamma)^{2}) \\ &\times \left(\int_{X} \gamma(dx') \int_{X} \sigma(dy') \mu(x',y') + \int_{X} \sigma(dy') u(x,y') \right) \\ &\leq \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \left(\int_{X} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) \, u(x,y) (1 + r(x,\gamma)) (1 + r(y,\gamma)^{2}) \right) \\ &\times \left(\int_{X} \gamma(dx') \int_{X} \sigma(dy') u(x',y') + C_{7} \right). \end{split}$$

Hence, by the Cauchy inequality, it suffices to prove that

$$\int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \left(\int_{X} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) \, u(x,y) (1+r(x,\gamma)) (1+r(y,\gamma)^2) \right)^2 < \infty,$$
(5.31)

$$\int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \left(\int_{X} \gamma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) \, u(x,y) \right)^2 < \infty.$$
 (5.32)

We first to prove (5.32). We have, by Theorem 3.5,

$$\int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \left(\int_{X} \gamma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) u(x,y) \right)^{2}$$

$$\begin{split} &= \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{X} \gamma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) \, u(x,y) \int_{X} \gamma(dx') \int_{X} \sigma(dy') \, u(x',y') \\ &= \int_{X} \sigma(dy) \int_{X} \sigma(dy') \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{X} \gamma(dx) \int_{X} \gamma(dx') \, u(x,y) u(x',y') \\ &= \int_{X} \sigma(dy) \int_{X} \sigma(dy') \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \left(\int_{X} \gamma(dx) \, u(x,y) u(x,y') \right) \\ &+ \int_{X} \gamma(dx) \int_{X} (\gamma - \varepsilon_{x}) (dx') \, u(x,y) u(x',y') \right) \\ &= \int_{X} \sigma(dy) \int_{X} \sigma(dy') \left(\int_{X} \sigma(dx) \, \mathcal{K}(x,x) u(x,y) u(x,y') \right) \\ &+ \int_{X} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dx') \left(\frac{1}{2} \, \mathcal{K}(x,x')^{2} + \mathcal{K}(x,x) \mathcal{K}(x',x') \right) u(x,y) u(x',y') \right). \end{split}$$

Hence,

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \left(\int_{X} \gamma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) u(x,y) \right)^{2} \\ &\leq \int_{X} \sigma(dy) \int_{X} \sigma(dy') \left(\int_{X} \sigma(dx) \mathcal{K}(x,x) u(x,y) u(x,y') \right. \\ &\quad + \int_{X} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dx') \frac{3}{2} \mathcal{K}(x,x) \mathcal{K}(x',x') u(x,y) u(x',y') \right) \\ &= \int_{X} \sigma(dy) \int_{X} \sigma(dy') \int_{X} \sigma(dx) \mathcal{K}(x,x) u(x,y) u(x,y') \\ &\quad + \frac{3}{2} \left(\int_{X} \sigma(dy) \int_{X} \sigma(dx) \mathcal{K}(x,x) u(x,y) \right)^{2} \\ &\leq \int_{\Delta} \sigma(dx) \mathcal{K}(x,x) \left(\int_{X} \sigma(dy) u(x,y) \right)^{2} \\ &\quad + C_{8} \int_{X} \sigma(dy) \int_{X} \sigma(dy') \int_{\Delta^{c}} \sigma(dx) u(x,y) u(x,y') \\ &\quad + \frac{3}{2} \left(\int_{\Delta} \sigma(dx) \mathcal{K}(x,x) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) u(x,y) + C_{8} \int_{X} \sigma(dy) \int_{\Delta^{c}} \sigma(dx) u(x,y) \right)^{2} < \infty. \end{split}$$

Next, we prove (5.31). By Lemma 5.1 and Hölder's inequality, we have

$$\int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \left(\int_{X} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) \, u(x, y) (1 + r(x, \gamma)) (1 + r(y, \gamma)^{2}) \right)^{2}$$
$$= \int_{X} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dx') \int_{X} \sigma(dy) \int_{X} \sigma(dy') \, u(x, y) u(x', y')$$

$$\begin{split} & \times \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma)(1+r(x,\gamma))(1+r(x',\gamma))(1+r(y,\gamma)^{2})(1+r(y',\gamma)^{2}) \\ & \leq \int_{X} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dx') \int_{X} \sigma(dy) \int_{X} \sigma(dy') \, u(x,y) u(x',y') \left(1+\|r(x,\cdot)\|_{L^{4}(\mu)}\right) \\ & \times \left(1+\|r(x',\cdot)\|_{L^{4}(\mu)}\right) \left(1+\|r(y,\cdot)^{2}\|_{L^{4}(\mu)}\right) \left(1+\|r(y',\cdot)^{2}\|_{L^{4}(\mu)}\right) \\ & = \left(\int_{X} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) u(x,y) \left(1+\|r(x,\cdot)\|_{L^{4}(\mu)}\right) \left(1+\|r(y,\cdot)^{2}\|_{L^{4}(\mu)}\right)\right)^{2} \\ & \leq C_{9} \left(\int_{X} \sigma(dx) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) \, u(x,y)(1+\mathcal{K}(x,x))(1+\mathcal{K}(y,y)^{2})\right)^{2} < \infty. \end{split}$$

Indeed, since the function u is bounded, by (5.26)

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Delta} \sigma(dx) \int_{\Delta} \sigma(dy) u(x,y) (1 + \mathcal{K}(x,x)) (1 + \mathcal{K}(y,y)^2) \\ &\leq C_{10} \int_{\Delta} \sigma(dx) (1 + \mathcal{K}(x,x)) \int_{\Delta} \sigma(dy) (1 + \mathcal{K}(y,y)^2) \\ &< \infty. \end{split}$$

Next,

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Delta^{c}} \sigma(dx) \int_{\Delta} \sigma(dy) u(x,y) (1 + \mathcal{K}(x,x)) (1 + \mathcal{K}(y,y)^{2}) \\ &\leq C_{11} \int_{\Delta^{c}} \sigma(dx) \int_{\Delta} \sigma(dy) u(x,y) (1 + \mathcal{K}(y,y)^{2}) \\ &\leq C_{11} \int_{\Delta} \sigma(dy) (1 + \mathcal{K}(y,y)^{2}) \int_{X} \sigma(dx) u(x,y) \\ &\leq C_{12} \int_{\Delta} \sigma(dy) (1 + \mathcal{K}(y,y)^{2}) \\ &< \infty. \end{split}$$

Next,

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Delta} \sigma(dx) \int_{\Delta^{c}} \sigma(dy) u(x,y) (1 + \mathcal{K}(x,x)) (1 + \mathcal{K}(y,y)^{2}) \\ &\leq C_{13} \int_{\Delta} \sigma(dx) \int_{\Delta^{c}} \sigma(dy) u(x,y) (1 + \mathcal{K}(x,x)) \\ &\leq C_{13} \int_{\Delta} \sigma(dx) (1 + \mathcal{K}(x,x)) \int_{X} \sigma(dy) u(x,y) \end{split}$$

$$\leq C_{14} \int_{\Delta} \sigma(dx) (1 + \mathcal{K}(x, x))$$

< ∞ .

Finally,

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Delta^c} \sigma(dx) \int_{\Delta^c} \sigma(dy) u(x,y) (1 + \mathcal{K}(x,x)) (1 + \mathcal{K}(y,y)^2) \\ &\leq C_{15} \int_{\Delta^c} \sigma(dx) \int_{\Delta^c} \sigma(dy) u(x,y) \\ &\leq C_{15} \int_X \sigma(dx) \int_X \sigma(dy) u(x,y) \\ &= C_{15} \int_X \sigma(dx) \int_X \sigma(dy) a(x,y) (\chi_{\Lambda}(x) + \chi_{\Lambda}(y)) \\ &< \infty. \end{split}$$

Thus, the theorem is proven.

5.3 Diffusion approximation

From now on, we set $X = \mathbb{R}^d$, $d \in \mathbb{N}$, and σ to be Lebesgue measure. We will show that, under an appropriate scaling, the Dirichlet form of the Kawasaki dynamics converges to a Dirichlet form which identifies a diffusion process on Γ having a permanental point process $\mu^{(l)}$ as a symmetrizing measure. The way we scale the Kawasaki dynamics will be similar to the ansatz of [23].

We denote by $\mathcal{F}C_{\mathbf{b}}^{\infty}(C_{0}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d}),\Gamma)$ the space of all functions of the form (5.8) where $N \in \mathbb{N}, \varphi_{1}, \ldots, \varphi_{N} \in C_{0}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ and $g \in C_{\mathbf{b}}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{N})$. Here, $C_{0}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d})$ denotes the space of smooth functions on \mathbb{R}^{d} with compact support, and $C_{\mathbf{b}}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{N})$ denotes the space of all smooth bounded functions on \mathbb{R}^{N} whose all derivatives are bounded. Clearly,

$$\mathcal{F}C^{\infty}_{\mathrm{b}}(C^{\infty}_{0}(\mathbb{R}^{d}),\Gamma) \subset \mathcal{F}C_{\mathrm{b}}(C_{0}(\mathbb{R}^{d}),\Gamma),$$

and the set $\mathcal{F}C^{\infty}_{\mathrm{b}}(C^{\infty}_{0}(\mathbb{R}^{d}),\Gamma)$ is a core for the Dirichlet form $(\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{K}},D(\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{K}}))$.

We fix s = 1/2. Let us assume that the function a(x, y) is as in Remark 5.2. Thus, the coefficient $c(x, y, \gamma)$ has the form

$$c(x, y, \gamma) = a(x - y)r(x, \gamma)^{-1/2}r(y, \gamma)^{1/2}\chi_{\{r>0\}}(x, \gamma)\chi_{\{r>0\}}(y, \gamma).$$
(5.33)

Note that y - x describes the change of the position of a particle which hops from x to y. We now scale the function a as follows: for each $\varepsilon > 0$, we denote

$$a_{\varepsilon}(x) := \varepsilon^{-d-2} a(x/\varepsilon), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
(5.34)

The Dirichlet form $(\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{K}}, D(\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{K}}))$ which corresponds to the choice of function a as in (5.34) will be denoted by $(\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}, D(\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}))$.

Theorem 5.4. Assume that the function a has compact support, and the value a(x) only depends on |x|, i.e., $a(x) = \tilde{a}(|x|)$ for some function \tilde{a} : $[0,\infty) \to \mathbb{R}$. Further assume that the function $\mathcal{K}_1(x,y)$ has the form $\mathcal{K}_1(x-y)$ for some $\mathcal{K}_1 : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$, and

$$\lim_{y \to 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\mathcal{K}_1(x) - \mathcal{K}_1(x+y))^2 \, dx = 0.$$
 (5.35)

For each $l \in \mathbb{N}$, define a quadratic form $(\mathcal{E}_0, \mathcal{F}C_b^{\infty}(C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d), \Gamma))$ by

$$\mathcal{E}_0(F,G) := c \int_{\Gamma} \mu^{(l)}(d\gamma) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dx \, r(x,\gamma) \langle \nabla_x F(\gamma \cup x), \nabla_x G(\gamma \cup x) \rangle.$$
(5.36)

Here

$$c := \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{D}^d} a(x) x_1^2 \, dx$$

 $(x_1 \text{ denoting the first coordinate of } x \in \mathbb{R}^d), \nabla_x \text{ denotes the gradient in}$ (t_1, t_2, \dots, t_d) (t_1, t_2, \dots, t_d) $F, G \in \mathcal{F}C^{\infty}_b(C^{\infty}_0(\mathbb{R}^d), \Gamma),$ $F, G \in \mathcal{F}C^{\infty}_b(C^{\infty}_0(\mathbb{R}^d), \Gamma),$ $F, G \in \mathcal{F}C^{\infty}_b(C^{\infty}_0(\mathbb{R}^d), \Gamma),$

$$\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(F,G) \to \mathcal{E}_0(F,G) \quad as \ \varepsilon \to 0.$$

Remark 5.5. Assume that the function \mathcal{K}_1 is differentiable on \mathbb{R}^d . Denote

$$K(x,\delta) := \sup_{y \in B(x,\delta)} |\nabla \mathcal{K}_1(y)|, \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^d, \ \delta > 0.$$

Here $B(x, \delta)$ denotes the closed ball in \mathbb{R}^d centered at x and of radius δ . Assume that, for some $\delta > 0$,

$$K(\cdot, \delta) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, dx).$$
(5.37)

Then, by Taylor's formula condition (5.35) is clearly satisfied. Note that condition (5.37) is slightly stronger than the condition $|\nabla \mathcal{K}_1| \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, dx)$.

Proof of Theorem 5.4. Again we will only present the proof in the case l = 1, omitting the upper index ⁽¹⁾. We start with the following

Lemma 5.2. Fix any $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_0(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $\alpha \in (0,1]$. Then, under the conditions of Theorem 5.4,

$$r(x + \varepsilon y, \gamma)^{\alpha} \to r(x, \gamma)^{\alpha} \text{ in } L^{2}(\Gamma \times \Lambda \times \mathbb{R}^{d}, \mu(d\gamma) \, dx \, dy \, a(y)) \text{ as } \varepsilon \to 0.$$

Proof. We first prove the statement for $\alpha = 1$. Thus, equivalently we have to prove that

$$r(x + \varepsilon y, \gamma) \to r(x, \gamma) \text{ in } L^2(\Omega \times \Gamma \times \Lambda \times \mathbb{R}^d, \tilde{\mathbb{P}}(d\omega, d\gamma) \, dx \, dy \, a(y)) \text{ as } \varepsilon \to 0.$$
(5.38)

We have, using Jensen's inequality for conditional expactation,

$$\int_{\Lambda} dx \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dy \, a(y) \int_{\Omega \times \Gamma} \tilde{\mathbb{P}}(d\omega, d\gamma) \left(r(x + \varepsilon y) - r(x, \gamma) \right)^{2} \\
= \int_{\Lambda} dx \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dy \, a(y) \int_{\Omega \times \Gamma} \tilde{\mathbb{P}}(d\omega, d\gamma) \tilde{\mathbb{E}}(Y(x + \varepsilon y)^{2} - Y(x)^{2} \mid \mathcal{F})^{2} \\
\leq \int_{\Lambda} dx \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dy \, a(y) \int_{\Omega \times \Gamma} \tilde{\mathbb{P}}(d\omega, d\gamma) (Y(x + \varepsilon y)^{2} - Y(x)^{2})^{2} \\
= \int_{\Lambda} dx \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dy \, a(y) \int_{\Omega} d\mathbb{P} \left(Y(x + \varepsilon y)^{4} + Y(x)^{4} - 2Y(x + \varepsilon y)^{2} Y(x)^{2} \right). \tag{5.39}$$

We have

$$\int_{\Omega} Y(x + \varepsilon y)^4 d\mathbb{P}$$

= $3 \bigg(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{K}_1(x + \varepsilon y - u)^2 du \bigg)^2$
= $3 \bigg(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{K}_1(x - u)^2 du \bigg)^2$
= $\int_{\Omega} Y(x)^4 d\mathbb{P}.$ (5.40)

We have:

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\Lambda} dx \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dy \, a(y) \int_{\Omega} d\tilde{\mathbb{P}} \, Y(x + \varepsilon y)^2 Y(x)^2 \\ &= \int_{\Lambda} dx \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dy \, a(y) \bigg[\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{K}_1(x + \varepsilon y - u)^2 \, du \cdot \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{K}_1(x - u')^2 \, du' \\ &\quad + 2 \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{K}_1(x + \varepsilon y - u) \, \mathcal{K}_1(x - u) \, du \right)^2 \bigg] \\ &= \int_{\Lambda} dx \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dy \, a(y) \bigg[\bigg(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{K}_1(u)^2 du \bigg)^2 + 2 \bigg(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{K}_1(u + \varepsilon y) \mathcal{K}_1(u) du \bigg)^2 \bigg]. \end{split}$$
(5.41)

By (5.35), for a fixed $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{K}_1(u+\varepsilon y) \mathcal{K}_1(u) du \to \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{K}_1(u)^2 du,$$

as $\varepsilon \to 0$. On the other hand for each $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$, by the Cauchy inequality,

$$igg(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d}\mathcal{K}_1(u+arepsilon y)\mathcal{K}_1(u)duigg)^2\leq\int_{\mathbb{R}^d}\mathcal{K}_1(u+arepsilon y)^2du\cdot\int_{\mathbb{R}^d}\mathcal{K}_1(u)^2du\ =igg(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d}\mathcal{K}_1(u)^2duigg)^2.$$

Hence, by the dominated convergence theorem,

$$\int_{\Lambda} dx \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dy \, a(y) \int_{\Omega} d\mathbb{P} \, Y(x + \varepsilon y)^2 Y(x)^2$$
$$\to 3 \int_{\Lambda} dx \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dy \, a(y) \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{K}_1(u)^2 du \right)^2$$

$$= \int_{\Lambda} dx \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dy \, a(y) \int_{\Omega} d\mathbb{P} Y(x)^4$$

as $\varepsilon \to 0$

By (5.39)-(5.41), statement (5.38) follows.

To prove the result for $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, it is now sufficient to show the following *Claim.* Let $(\mathbf{A}, \mathcal{A}, m)$ be a measure space and let $m(\mathbf{A}) < \infty$. Let $f_{\varepsilon} \in L^2(m), f_{\varepsilon} \ge 0, \varepsilon \in [-1, 1]$, and let $f_{\varepsilon} \to f_0$ in $L^2(m)$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$. Then, for each $\alpha \in (0, 1), f_{\varepsilon}^{\alpha} \to f_0^{\alpha}$ in $L^2(m)$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$.

By e.g. [4, Theorems 21.2 and 21.4], $f_{\varepsilon} \to f_0$ in $L^2(m)$ is equivalent to:

- (i) $f_{\varepsilon} \to f_0$ in measure;
- (ii) $\sup_{\varepsilon \in [-1,1]} \int f_{\varepsilon}^2 dm < \infty;$
- (iii) (uniform integrability) For each $\theta > 0$ there exist $h \in L^1(m)$ and $\delta > 0$ such that, for all $0 < |\varepsilon| \le 1$ and for each $A \in \mathcal{A}$

$$\int_A h \, dm \le \delta \Rightarrow \int_A f_{\varepsilon}^2 \, dm \le \theta.$$

Hence, for $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, we get:

a) $f_{\varepsilon}^{\alpha} \to f_{0}^{\alpha}$ in measure;

b)
$$\sup_{\varepsilon \in [-1,1]} \int f_{\varepsilon}^{2\alpha} dm \leq \sup_{\varepsilon \in [-1,1]} \int (1+f_{\varepsilon}^2) dm < \infty;$$

c) Let θ , h, and δ be as in (iii). Set $h' := h + \frac{\delta}{\theta}$. Clearly, $h \in L^1(m)$. Assume that, for some $A \in \mathcal{A}$, $\int_A h' dm \leq \delta$. Hence $\int_A h dm \leq \delta$, and therefore $\int_A f_{\varepsilon}^2 dm \leq \theta$ for all $0 < |\varepsilon| \leq 1$. Furthermore, we get $\int_A \frac{\delta}{\theta} dm \leq \delta$, and therefore $m(A) \leq \theta$. Now

$$\int_A f_{\varepsilon}^{2\alpha} \, dm \leq \int_A (1+f_{\varepsilon}^2) \, dm \leq 2\theta.$$

Applying again [4, Theorems 21.2 and 21.4], we conclude the claim.

Fix any $F \in \mathcal{F}C^{\infty}_{\mathrm{b}}(C^{\infty}_{0}(\mathbb{R}^{d}), \Gamma)$. We have

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(F,F) &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dx \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dy \, \varepsilon^{-d-2} a((x-y)/\varepsilon) \\ &\times r(x,\gamma)^{1/2} r(y,\gamma)^{1/2} (F(\gamma \cup x) - F(\gamma \cup y))^2 \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dx \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dy \, a(y) r(x+\varepsilon y,\gamma)^{1/2} r(x,\gamma)^{1/2} \\ &\times \left(\frac{F(\gamma \cup \{x+\varepsilon y\}) - F(\gamma \cup x)}{\varepsilon} \right)^2. \end{split}$$

Assume that $0 < |\varepsilon| \le 1$. Note that the function F is local, i.e., there exists $\Delta \in \mathcal{B}_0(\mathbb{R}^d)$ such that $F(\gamma) = F(\gamma_\Delta)$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$. The function a has compact support. Hence, there exists R > 0 such that a(y) = 0 if |y| > R. Choose $\Lambda \in \mathcal{B}_0(\mathbb{R}^d)$ to be the collection of all points x in \mathbb{R}^d such that the distance from x to the set Δ is $\le R$. Then, for each $x \notin \Lambda$ and all $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ with $|y| \le R$, we have $x \notin \Delta$, and $x + \varepsilon y \notin \Delta$. Therefore

$$F(\gamma \cup \{x + \varepsilon y\}) - F(\gamma \cup x) = F(\gamma) - F(\gamma) = 0.$$

Hence,

$$\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(F,F) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{\Lambda} dx \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dy \, a(y) r(x + \varepsilon y, \gamma)^{1/2} r(x,\gamma)^{1/2} \\ \times \left(\frac{F(\gamma \cup \{x + \varepsilon y\}) - F(\gamma \cup x)}{\varepsilon} \right)^2. \quad (5.42)$$

By the dominated convergence theorem

$$r(x,\gamma)^{1/2} \left(\frac{F(\gamma \cup \{x + \varepsilon y\}) - F(\gamma \cup x)}{\varepsilon} \right)^2 \to r(x,\gamma)^{1/2} \langle \nabla_x F(\gamma \cup x), y \rangle^2$$
(5.43)

in $L^2(\Gamma \times \Lambda \times \mathbb{R}^d, \mu(d\gamma) \, dx \, dy \, a(y))$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$. By Lemma 5.2 with $\alpha = 1/2$, (5.42) and (5.43)

$$\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(F,F) \to \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{\Lambda} dx \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dy \, a(y) r(x,\gamma) \langle \nabla_x F(\gamma \cup x), y \rangle^2.$$
(5.44)

Since $a(y) = \tilde{a}(|y|)$, for any $i, j \in \{1, ..., d\}, i \neq j$, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} a(y) y_i y_j \, dy = 0$$

 and

$$c = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} a(y) y_i^2 \, dy, \quad i = 1, \dots, d.$$

Therefore, by (5.44),

$$\mathcal{E}_{\varepsilon}(F,F) \to c \int_{\Gamma} \mu(d\gamma) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} dx \, r(x,\gamma) |\nabla_x F(\gamma \cup x)|^2.$$

From here the theorem follows by the polarization identity for quadratic forms. $\hfill \Box$

We will now show that the limiting form $(\mathcal{E}_0, \mathcal{F}C_b^{\infty}(C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d), \Gamma))$ is closable and its closure identifies a diffusion process.

In what follows, we will assume that the conditions of Theorem 5.4 are satisfied. We have

$$\mathcal{K}(x,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{K}_1(x-u)\mathcal{K}_1(y-u) \, du$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{K}_1(u-y)\mathcal{K}_1(u-x) \, du$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{K}_1(u)\mathcal{K}_1(u+y-x) \, du.$$

Hence, by (5.35), the function $\mathcal{K}(x, y)$ is continuous on $(\mathbb{R}^d)^2$. Indeed, assume that $(x_n, y_n) \to (x, y)$ on $n \to \infty$. Then

$$\mathcal{K}(x_n, y_n) - \mathcal{K}(x, y)$$

$$=\int_{\mathbb{R}^l}\mathcal{K}_1(u)[\mathcal{K}_1(u+y_n-x_n)-\mathcal{K}_1(u+y-x)]du.$$

From here

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{K}(x_n, y_n) - \mathcal{K}(x, y)| \\ &\leq (\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{K}_1(u)^2 du)^{\frac{1}{2}} \times (\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\mathcal{K}_1(u + y_n - x_n) - \mathcal{K}(u + y - x))^2 du)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &= (\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{K}_1(u)^2 du)^{\frac{1}{2}} \times (\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\mathcal{K}_1(u - y + x + y_n - x_n) - \mathcal{K}_1(u))^2 du)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\to 0, \end{aligned}$$

as $n \to \infty$. Since $-y + x + y_n - x_n \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Thus, by Remark 3.1, $(Y(x))_{x \in X}$ is a Gaussian random field and formula (3.21) holds for all $(x, y) \in (\mathbb{R}^d)^2$.

Remark 5.6. Recall that a function $D: (\mathbb{R}^d)^2 \to [0, \infty)$ is called a metric on \mathbb{R}^d if it satisfies the following axioms:

1. D(x,y) = 0 if and only if x = y;

2.
$$D(x,y) = D(y,x)$$
 for all $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d$;

3. $D(x,z) \leq D(x,y) + D(y,z)$ for all $x, y, z \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

If a function $D: (\mathbb{R}^d)^2 \to [0,\infty)$ satisfies the first and second axioms, but not necessarily the third one (the triangle inequality), then D is called a semimetric.

Following [9], we consider the semimetric on \mathbb{R}^d :

$$D(x,y) := \frac{1}{2} \left(\int_{\Omega} (Y(x) - Y(y))^2 d\mathbb{P} \right)^{1/2}$$

= $\frac{1}{2} (\mathcal{K}(x,x) + \mathcal{K}(y,y) - 2\mathcal{K}(x,y))^{1/2}$
= $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{K}_1(u) (\mathcal{K}_1(u) - \mathcal{K}_1(u+y-x)) du \right)^{1/2}, \quad x, y \in \mathbb{R}^d.$
(5.45)

The associated metric entropy $H(\delta)$ is defined as

$$H(\delta) := \log N(\delta),$$

where $N(\delta)$ is the minimal number of points in a δ -net in

$$B(0,1) = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^d \mid |x| \le 1\}$$

with respect to the semimetric D, i.e., points x_i such that the open balls centered at x_i and of radius δ (with respect to D) cover B(0, 1). The expression

$$J:=\int_0^1\sqrt{H(\delta)}\,d\delta$$

is called the Dudley integral. The following result holds, see e.g. [9, Corollary 7.1.4] and the references therein.

Theorem 5.5. Assume that $J < \infty$. Then the Gaussian random field $(Y(x))_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d}$ has a continuous modification, i.e., for each $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, there exists a version of the random variable Y(x) such that, for each $\omega \in \Omega$, the function

$$\mathbb{R}^d \ni x \mapsto Y(x,\omega) \in \mathbb{R}$$

is continuous.

Remark 5.7. Let \mathcal{K}_1 be as in Remark 5.5. Then, by (5.45), for any $x, y \in B(0,1)$

$$D(x,y)^{2} \leq \|\mathcal{K}_{1}(\cdot)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d},dx)} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} (\mathcal{K}_{1}(u) - \mathcal{K}_{1}(u+y-x))^{2} du \right)^{1/2}$$

$$\leq \|\mathcal{K}_{1}(\cdot)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d},dx)} \|K(\cdot,2)\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d},dx)} |y-x|,$$

where we assumed that $K(\cdot, 2) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, dx)$. Then $J < \infty$, see e.g. [9, Example 7.1.5].

Denote by $\ddot{\Gamma}$ the space of all multiple configurations in \mathbb{R}^d . Thus, $\ddot{\Gamma}$ is the set of all Radon $\mathbb{Z}_+ \cup \{+\infty\}$ -valued measures on \mathbb{R}^d , In particular, $\Gamma \subset \ddot{\Gamma}$. Analogously to the case of Γ , we define the vague topology on $\ddot{\Gamma}$ and the corresponding Borel σ -algebra $\mathcal{B}(\ddot{\Gamma})$.

Theorem 5.6. Let $\mathcal{K}_1(x, y)$ be of the form $\mathcal{K}_1(x-y)$ for some $\mathcal{K}_1 \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, dx)$. Let $J(D) < \infty$. Let $l \in \mathbb{N}$ and c > 0. Then

(i) The quadratic form $(\mathcal{E}_0, \mathcal{F}C_b^{\infty}(C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d), \Gamma))$ defined by (5.36) is closable on $L^2(\Gamma, \mu^{(l)})$ and its closure will be denoted by $(\mathcal{E}_0, D(\mathcal{E}_0))$.

(ii) There exists a conservative diffusion process

$$M^{0} = \left(\Omega^{0}, \mathcal{F}^{0}, (\mathcal{F}^{0}_{t})_{t \ge 0}, (\Theta^{0}_{t})_{t \ge 0}, (X^{0}(t))_{t \ge 0}, (P^{0}_{\gamma})_{\gamma \in \ddot{\Gamma}}\right)$$

on $\ddot{\Gamma}$ which is properly associated with $(\mathcal{E}_0, D(\mathcal{E}_0))$. In particular, M^0 is $\mu^{(l)}$ symmetric and has $\mu^{(l)}$ as invariant measure. In the case $d \geq 2$, the set $\ddot{\Gamma} \setminus \Gamma$ is \mathcal{E}^0 -exceptional, so that $\ddot{\Gamma}$ may be replaced with Γ in the above statement.

Proof. We again discuss only the case l = 1, omitting the upper index ⁽¹⁾. By (5.36), for any $F, G \in \mathcal{F}C_{\mathrm{b}}^{\infty}(C_{0}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d}), \Gamma)$,

$$\mathcal{E}_{0}(F,G) = c \int_{\Omega \times \Gamma} \tilde{\mathbb{P}}(d\omega, d\gamma) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dx \, \tilde{\mathbb{E}}(Y(x,\omega)^{2} \mid \mathcal{F}) \langle \nabla_{x} F(\gamma \cup x), \nabla_{x} G(\gamma \cup x) \rangle$$

$$= \int_{\Omega \times \Gamma} \tilde{\mathbb{P}}(d\omega, d\gamma) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} dx \, Y(x,\omega)^{2}$$

$$\times \langle \nabla_{x}(F(\gamma \cup x) - F(\gamma)), \nabla_{x}(G(\gamma \cup x) - G(\gamma)) \rangle.$$
(5.46)

Fix $(\omega, \gamma) \in \Omega \times \Gamma$. Denote

$$f(x) := F(\gamma \cup x) - F(\gamma), \quad g(x) := G(\gamma \cup x) - G(\gamma).$$

Clearly, $f, g \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. In view of Theorem 5.5, $Y(x, \omega)^2$ is a continuous function of $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Hence, by [11, Theorem 6.2], the quadratic form

$$\mathcal{E}(f,g) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \langle \nabla f(x), \nabla g(x) \rangle Y(x,\omega)^2 \, dx, \quad f,g \in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^d),$$

is closable on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d, Y(x, \omega)^2 dx)$. Now the closability of $(\mathcal{E}_0, \mathcal{F}C_b^{\infty}(C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d), \Gamma))$ on $L^2(\Gamma, \mu^{(l)})$ follows by a straightforward generalization of the proof of [11, Theorem 6.3].

Due to [30], Part (ii) of the theorem can be shown completely analogously to [28], see also [34, 43].

Remark 5.8. Heuristically, the generator of $(\mathcal{E}_0, D(\mathcal{E}_0))$ has the form

$$(LF)(\gamma) = \sum_{x \in \gamma} \left(\Delta_x F(\gamma) + \left\langle \frac{\nabla_x r(x, \gamma \setminus x)}{r(x, \gamma \setminus x)}, \nabla_x F(\gamma) \right\rangle \right).$$

Here, for $x \in \gamma$, $\nabla_x F(\gamma) := \nabla_y F(\gamma \setminus x \cup y) \big|_{y=x}$ and analogously Δ_x is defined. However, we should not expect that $r(x, \gamma)$ is differentiable in x.

Bibliography

- S. Albeverio, Y.G. Kondratiev, M. Röckner, Analysis and geometry on configuration spaces, J. Funct. Anal. 154 (1998), 444-500.
- [2] S. Albeverio, Y.G. Kondratiev, M. Röckner, Analysis and geometry on configuration spaces: the Gibbsian case, J. Funct. Anal. 157 (1998), 242–291.
- [3] H. Bauer, Probability Theory, Walter de Gruyter & Co., Berlin, 1996.
- [4] H. Bauer, Measure and Integration Theory, Walter de Gruyter & Co., Berlin, 2001.
- [5] Berezanskii, Yu. M. Selfadjoint Operators in Spaces of Functions of Infinitely Many Variables, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1986.
- [6] Y. M. Berezansky, Z. G. Sheftel, G. F. Us, Functional analysis. Vol. I, II, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1996.
- [7] Y. M. Berezansky, Y. G. Kondratiev, Spectral Methods in Infinite Dimensional Analysis, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht/Boston/London, 1994.

- [8] L. Bertini, N. Cancrini, F. Cesi, The spectral gap for a Glauber-type dynamics in a continuous gas, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Probab. Statist. 38 (2002), 91–108.
- [9] V. I. Bogachev, Gaussian Measures, Providence, RI, 1998.
- [10] D. J Daley D. Vere-Jones, An Introduction to the Theory of Point Processes. Vol. I. Elementary theory and methods. Second edition. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2003, Vol. II. General theory and structure. Second edition. Springer, New York, 2008.
- [11] J. da Silva, Y. Kondratiev, M. Röckner, On a relation between intrinsic and extrinsic Dirichlet forms for interacting particle systems, Math. Nachr. 222 (2001), 141–157.
- [12] D. Finkelshtein, Y. Kondratiev, Regulation mechanisms in spatial stochastic development models, J. Stat. Phys. 136 (2009), 103–115.
- [13] D. Finkelshtein, Y. Kondratiev, O. Kutoviy, Individual based model with competition in spatial ecology, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 41 (2009), 297–317.
- [14] D. L. Finkelshtein, Y. G. Kondratiev, E. W. Lytvynov, Equilibrium Glauber dynamics of continuous particle systems as a scaling limit of Kawasaki dynamics, Random Oper. Stoch. Equ. 15 (2007), 105–126.
- [15] D. L. Finkelshtein, Y. G. Kondratiev, M. J. Oliveira, Markov evolutions and hierarchical equations in the continuum. I. One-component systems, J. Evol. Equ. 9 (2009), 197–233.
- [16] M. Fukushima, Dirichlet Forms and Symmetric Markov Processes, North-Holland, 1980.

- [17] J. Grandell, Doubly Stochastic Poisson Processes, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 529, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1976.
- [18] R. A. Holley, D. W. Stroock, Nearest neighbor birth and death processes on the real line, Acta Math. 140 (1978), 103–154.
- [19] H.-O. Georgii, H. J. Yoo, Conditional intensity and Gibbsianness of determinantal point processes, J. Stat. Phys. 118 (2005), 55–84.
- [20] E. Glötzl, Time reversible and Gibbsian point processes. I. Markovian spatial birth and death processes on a general phase space, Math. Nachr. 102 (1981), 217–222.
- [21] E. Glötzl, Time reversible and Gibbsian point processes. II. Markovian particle jump processes on a general phase space, Math. Nachr. 106 (1982), 63–71.
- [22] Kondratiev, YG, Kuna, T: Harmonic analysis on configuration space.
 I. General theory, Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top. 5 (2002), 201–233.
- [23] Y. G. Kondratiev, O. V. Kutoviy, E. W. Lytvynov, Diffusion approximation for equilibrium Kawasaki dynamics in continuum, Stochastic Process. Appl. 118 (2008), 1278–1299.
- [24] Y. Kondratiev, O. Kutoviy, R. Minlos, On non-equilibrium stochastic dynamics for interacting particle systems in continuum, J. Funct. Anal. 255 (2008), 200–227.
- [25] Y. Kondratiev, O. Kutoviy, S. Pirogov, Correlation functions and invariant measures in continuous contact model, Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top. 11 (2008), 231–258.

- [26] Y. G. Kondratiev, O. V. Kutoviy, E. Zhizhina, Nonequilibrium Glaubertype dynamics in continuum, J. Math. Phys. 47 (2006), 113501, 17 pp.
- [27] Y. G. Kondratiev, E. Lytvynov, Glauber dynamics of continuous particle systems, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Probab. Statist. 41 (2005), 685–702.
- [28] Y. G. Kondratiev, E. Lytvynov, M. Röckner, Equilibrium Kawasaki dynamics of continuous particles systems, Infin. Dimen. Anal. Quant. Prob. Rel. Top. 10 (2007), 185–210.
- [29] Y. Kondratiev, R. Minlos, E. Zhizhina, Self-organizing birth-and-death stochastic systems in continuum, Rev. Math. Phys. 20 (2008), 451–492.
- [30] E. Lytvynov, private communication, 2010.
- [31] E. Lytvynov, N. Ohlerich, A note on equilibrium Glauber and Kawasaki dynamics for fermion point processes, Methods Funct. Anal. Topology 14 (2008), 67–80.
- [32] E. Lytvynov, L. Mei, On the correlation measure of a family of commuting Hermitian operators with applications to particle densities of the quasi-free representations of the CAR and CCR, J. Funct. Anal. 245 (2007), 62–88.
- [33] Z.-M. Ma, M. Röckner, An Introduction to the Theory of (Non-Symmetric) Dirichlet Forms, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1992.
- [34] Z.-M. Ma, M. Röckner, Construction of diffusions on configuration spaces, Osaka J. Math. 37 (2000), 273–314.
- [35] K. Matthes, J. Kerstan, J. Mecke, Infinitely Divisible Point Processes, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester-New York-Brisbane, 1978.

- [36] O. Macchi, Distribution statistique des instants démission des photoélectrons dune lumiére thermique, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Ser. A 272 (1971), 437–440.
- [37] O. Macchi, The coincidence approach to stochastic point processes, Adv. Appl. Prob. 7 (1975), 83–122.
- [38] K. Matthes, W. Warmuth, J. Mecke, Bemerkungen zu einer Arbeit: "Integral and differential characterizations of the Gibbs process" [Math. Nachr. 88 (1979), 105–115] von Nguyen Xuan Xanh und Hans Zessin, Math. Nachr. 88 (1979), 117–127.
- [39] J. Møller, R. P. Waagepetersen, Modern statistics for spatial point processes, Scand. J. Statist. 34 (2007), 643–684.
- [40] C. Preston, Spatial birth-and-death processes, in Proceedings of the 40th Session of the International Statistical Institute (Warsaw, 1975), Vol. 2, Bull. Inst. Internat. Statist., Vol. 46, 1975, pp. 371–391.
- [41] M. Reed, B. Simon, Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics. I. Functional Analysis, Academic Press, New York-London, 1972.
- [42] M. Reed, B. Simon, Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics. II. Fourier Analysis, Self-adjointness, Academic Press, New York-London, 1975.
- [43] M. Röckner, B. Schmuland, A support property for infinite-dimensional interacting diffusion processes, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 326 (1998), Série I, 359–364.

- [44] T. Shirai and Y. Takahashi, Random point fields associated with certain Fredholm determinants I: fermion, Poisson and boson point processes, J. Funct. Anal. 205 (2003), 414–463.
- [45] D. Vere-Jones, A generalization of permanents and determinants, Linear Algebra Appl. 111 (1988), 119–124.

